
 

__________________________________________________________________________ 
763-479-0527 (Phone)                               1920 County Road 90                                   763-479-0528 (Fax) 

Independence, MN 55359 
http://independence.govoffice.com 

 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING AGENDA 
REGULAR MEETING 
TUESDAY, JULY 10, 2018 
 
 
CITY COUNCIL MEETING TIME: 6:30 PM 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Roll Call 

 
4. ****Consent Agenda**** 

 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted 
on by one motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, 
that item will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council minutes from the June 19, 2018 Regular City Council 
Meeting. 

b. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks Numbered 18078-18128. Check Number 
18105 was voided. 

c. Approve the Release of the Security Associated with the Public Improvements in the 
Serenity Hills Subdivision.  

d. Approval of the Large Assembly Permit and Associated Minnesota Lawful Gambling 
Exempt Permit for Twin Cities Polo Club Annual Polo Classic Event to be Held 
August 3-5, 2018. 

e. Approval of the Large Assembly Permit for the Running of the Bays Race Event to 
be Held September 8, 2018. 

f. Approval of Election Judges for the November 2018 Elections. 
 

5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc.  
 

6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 
 

7. Director Gary Kroells, West Hennepin Public Safety - Activity Report for the Months of 
April and May 2018. 

 
8. Annual Opportunity for Public to Comment on MS4 Permit. 

 



 

 

9. Consideration of Approval of the Cooperative Water Resources Agreement Relating to the 
Baker Park Ravin Project. 

 
a. Cooperative Water Resources Agreement – Baker Park 

 
10. Mike Kuka (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following actions for the 

properties located at 4405 County Road 92 N, Independence, MN (PID No.s 04-118-24-24-
0002 and 04-118-24-31-0001): 

 
a. RESOLUTION 18-0710-01 – Considering approval of a conditional use permit 

amendment to allow additional horses to be boarded in association with the existing 
commercial riding stable on the subject property.   

 
11. Fish and Son Properties (Applicant/Owner) request that the City consider the following 

action for the property located at 2020 County Road 90 (PID No. 23-118-24-23-0002) in 
Independence, MN: 
 

a. ORDINANCE 2018-02 - Rezoning the subject property from AG-Agriculture to 
CLI- Commercial Light Industrial. 

 
b. RESOLUTION 18-0710-03 – Considering approval of site plan review for the 

proposed commercial use of the property and a conditional use permit to allow boat 
service and repair on the subject property. 

 
12. Hamilton Bros. (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following action for 

the property located at 1050 County Road 83 (PID No. 35-118-24-41-0001) in Independence, 
MN: 
 

a. RESOLUTION 18-0710-04 – Considering approval of a final plat for a sixteen-lot 
residential subdivision to allow the subdivision of the property. 

 
b. ORDINANCE 2018-03 – Considering approval of the Hamilton Century Farm Storm 

Sewer Improvement Tax District. 
 
13. Open/Misc. 
 
14. Adjourn. 
 



 

1 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
INDEPENDENCE CITY COUNCIL  

TUESDAY, JUNE 19, 2018 –6:30 P.M. 
 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER. 
 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence City Council was called to 
order by Mayor Johnson at 6:30 p.m. 
 
2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 
 
Mayor Johnson led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3.  ROLL CALL  
 
PRESENT: Mayor Johnson, Councilors Spencer, Grotting, Betts and McCoy  
ABSENT: City Attorney Vose 
STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Administrative Assistant Horner 
VISITORS: Bob Volkenant, Bonnie Kuka, Mike Kuka 
 
4.  ****Consent Agenda**** 
 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted on by one 
motion.  There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, that item will be 
removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 
 

a. Approval of City Council minutes from the June 5, 2018 Regular City Council Meeting. 
b. Approval of Accounts Payable; Checks Numbered 18044-18077.   

 
Motion by McCoy, second by Spencer to approve the Consent Agenda items. Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, 
Betts, McCoy and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
5. SET AGENDA – ANYONE NOT ON THE AGENDA CAN BE PLACED UNDER OPEN/MISC.  
 
6. REPORTS OF BOARDS AND COMMITTEES BY COUNCIL AND STAFF 
 
Spencer attended the following meetings: 

 Wright County Planning Commission Meeting 
 
Grotting attended the following meetings: 

 LMCC Meeting 
 
McCoy attended the following meetings: 

 Orono High School Graduation 
 

Betts attended the following meetings: 
 West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting 



 

2 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

 
Johnson attended the following meetings: 

 Highway 12/ County Road 92 Design Committee Meeting 
 National League of Cities Event phone calls 
 Highway 55 Open House 
 Orono High School Graduation 
 Orono Teachers’ Retirement Breakfast  
 National League of Cities Interview 
 West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting 
 Guest Speaker at Fox and Hounds Meeting 
 Northwest League Meeting 
 Toured the new Bell Museum in St. Paul 

 
Horner attended the following meetings: 

 West Hennepin Chamber of Commerce Meeting 
 Met with LMC Insurance Agent 

 
Kaltsas attended the following meetings: 
 
7. PTS Products, Inc. (Applicants/Owners) requests that the City consider the following action for the 

property located at 6511 US Highway 12 (PID No. 22-118-24-44-0011) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. RESOLUTION 18-0619-01 - Consideration of site plan approval and a variance to 
allow the expansion of the existing commercial building located on the subject 
property.  The expansion of the building will be permitted to be comprised of the same 
building materials as the existing building. 

 
Kaltsas said the applicant is seeking site plan approval to allow the expansion of the existing building. The 
applicant moved their manufacturing business to Independence in 2015 to facilitate future growth. The 
business is nearing capacity in the current facility and the owner would like to expand the facility. The 
existing building is approximately 12,800 SF in overall size. The applicant is proposing to expand the 
building by another 12,800 SF for a total of 25,600 SF. The applicant has noted that the proposed expansion 
will require approximately 15 additional jobs. The subject property is zoned CLI – Commercial Light 
Industrial. Manufacturing is a permitted use within the CLI zoning district. New construction and expansion 
of existing buildings in the CLI zoning district requires the review and approval of the City. The extent of the 
review is based on the intensity of the proposed development along with the ability of the proposed 
development to meet the requirements of the zoning ordinance (Sections 530.17 and 530.23). The City has 
adopted site requirements for commercial development there are several provisions within the 
commercial standards that are applicable to the proposed building expansion.be considered: 
 
530.23. - Building design requirements. 
 

Subd. 1. Standards established. Building design standards are hereby established to ensure 
commercial and industrial buildings meet acceptable aesthetic standards. 
 
Subd. 2. Applicability. The design standards in this section shall apply to the following: 
 
 



 

3 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

(a) All facades of new principal buildings; 
 

(b) All facades of new accessory buildings; 
 

(c) Remodeling of existing buildings that result in "refacing" more than one side of an existing 
building or refacing of the wall oriented towards the nearest public road. 

 
(d) Additions to buildings that increase the gross floor area by more than 15 percent for commercial 
or retail buildings, or 25 percent for industrial buildings. Additions not exceeding these thresholds 
may be constructed using exterior materials that match or are compatible with the existing 
building materials. 
 

530.17. - Site development standards. 
 

Subd. 3. Setbacks. All buildings and structures must meet or exceed the following setbacks: 
 

(a) Front yard setback: 100 feet from centerline of road. 
 

(b) Side yard setback: 20 feet from side lot line. 
 

(c) Rear yard setback: 20 feet from rear lot line. 
 

The City has reviewed the plans as they relate to the standards provided in the zoning ordinance. The 
following items should be further considered by the Planning Commission: 
 

1. Building Design – The City ordinance provides the following requirement for additions to 
commercial buildings: 
 

a. Additions to buildings that increase the gross floor area by more than 15 percent for 
commercial or retail buildings or 25 percent for industrial buildings. Additions not 
exceeding these thresholds may be constructed using exterior materials that match or are 
compatible with the existing building materials. 
 
b. Allowed materials for principal buildings. Principal commercial or industrial buildings in the 
commercial/industrial zoning district shall use the following materials on their exterior facades: 
 

(1) Brick; 
 

(2) Natural stone or stone veneers; 
 
(3) Decorative concrete block (color impregnated with a split faced, robbed, or textured surface; 
 
(4) Glass curtain wall panels; 
 
(5) Stucco or synthetic stucco; 
 
(6) Exterior insulation and finish systems (EIFS). 

 
 



 

4 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

The proposed addition increases the gross floor area of the building by more than 15 percent (100 
percent). The applicant has prepared several illustrative images which shows the proposed 
exterior elevations of the expansion. The primary material proposed is standing seem metal which 
is consistent with the majority of the existing building. There is a low split face block base that 
would be added to the base of the addition. The east facing façade of the existing building has a 
brick/stone finish. The applicant is asking the City to consider allowing the proposed addition to be 
constructed of materials similar to the existing building noting that the majority of the addition will 
be located behind the existing building. The applicant also noted that the existing building located 
to the east of this building is constructed of similar materials. In order for the City to consider 
approval of the expansion utilizing materials that match the existing building, a variance is required. 
 
2. Parking Requirements - The applicant is proposing to construct new bituminous parking spaces 
and a loading area to serve the new addition. For wholesale and warehousing uses, the City 
requires: one space for each 2,000 square feet of gross floor area. The total building square 
footage is approximately 26,000 square feet and would therefore require 13 parking spaces. The 
existing site has approximately 30 parking spaces. The proposed parking lot expansion would add 
an additional 20 parking spaces for a total of 50 parking spaces. The number of parking spaces 
proposed combined with the existing would satisfy parking requirements for this site. 
 
3. Setbacks – The City has the following setback requirements for buildings located in the CLI zoning 
district: 
 

a. Front yard setback: 100 feet from centerline of road. 
b. Side yard setback: 20 feet from side lot line. 
c. Rear yard setback: 20 feet from rear lot line. 
d. Setback from boundary of agricultural or rural residential district: 100 feet. 
 

The proposed building expansion would meet all applicable setbacks. The closest setback would 
be from the west (side) property line. The proposed addition would be approximately 55 feet from 
the west (side) property line. There is one existing accessible parking space. One additional 
accessible parking space will be required. Staff will work with the applicant to locate the additional 
accessible space. 
 
4. Landscaping - Landscaping is required for new construction within all requisite setback areas. 
Minimum landscape requirements in the protective buffer must include one tree (at least 2.5-inch 
caliper deciduous tree or six-foot-high conifer tree) for each 40 feet of property line. The protective 
buffer must also contain grass, ground cover or shrubs. No impervious surfaces such as concrete 
or asphalt may be placed in the protective buffer. The applicant has worked with the City to develop a 
landscape plan that meets the intent of the landscaping ordinance. 
 
5. Storm Water Management – Storm water management is being reviewed by the City. The project 
does not appear to meet the one-half acre threshold for site improvements. The plan will need to 
comply with all applicable standards relating to storm water. The City does recognize that the prior to 
the water getting to the wetland area at the south end of the property. 
 
6. Lot Coverage - The maximum impervious lot coverage in the CLI zoning district is thirty (30) 
percent. The overall site is 293,600 square feet. Thirty (30) percent of the total site area would 
allow 88,000 square feet of impervious coverage. After construction of the proposed building 
addition and site improvements it is calculated that the total impervious surface area would be 



 

5 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

61,300 square feet. The proposed addition and site improvements would be below the maximum 
coverage area. 
 
7. Sanitary Sewer - There is an existing septic system located to the north of the building on the 
subject property. Staff has discussed the expansion of the building and how and if this will require 
additional septic capacity. The City will work with the applicant to ensure the proposed building 
expansion is accommodated by the existing system or expanded system. There is adequate 
space on site to expand the existing drain field. 
 
In addition to the site plan review, the City’s ordinance has established criteria for consideration in 
granting variance. 
 

520.21. Standards for granting variances. Subdivision 1. The City Council may grant a 
variance from the terms of this zoning code, including restrictions placed on nonconformities, 
in cases where:  
 
1) the variance is in harmony with the general purposes and intent of this zoning code;  
2) the variance is consistent with the comprehensive plan; and 3) the applicant establishes that 
there are practical difficulties in complying with the zoning code (Amended, Ord. 2011-08) 
 
Subd. 2. An applicant for a variance must demonstrate that there are practical difficulties in 
complying with the zoning code. For such purposes, “practical difficulties” means: 
 
(a) The property owner proposes to use the property in a reasonable manner not permitted by 
the zoning code; 
(b) the plight of the property owner is due to circumstances unique to the property not 
created by the landowner; 
(c)the variance, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 

Economic considerations alone do not constitute practical difficulties. Practical difficulties include, 
but are not limited to, inadequate access to direct sunlight for solar energy systems. (Amended, Ord. 
2011-08) 
 

Subd. 3. The City Council shall not grant a variance to permit a use that is not allowed under 
the zoning code based on the zoning classification of the affected property. (Amended, Ord. 
2011-08) 
 
520.23. Conditions and restrictions. The board of adjustments may recommend and the City 
Council may impose conditions on a variance. Conditions must be directly related to and must 
bear a rough proportionality to the impact created by the variance. (Amended, Ord. 2011-08). 
  

Consideration of the criteria for granting a variance: 
 

A.  The applicant is proposing to use the property in a manner consistent with the Commercial Light 
Industrial District - CLI. 

 
B. The character of the surrounding area is CLI. 

 
C. The proposed variance to allow the expansion of the existing building on this property is in keeping 



 

6 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

with the City’s comprehensive plan. 
 
d. The applicant is proposing to locate the expansion to the rear of the existing building which will 
mitigate potential impacts from Highway 12. 
 
e. The applicant is proposing to screen the existing building and expansion with new landscaping. 
 
f. The buildings in the surrounding area are generally constructed of similar building materials. 
 
g. The proposed building addition will meet all other requisite requirements for this property. 
 

The City will need to determine if the requested variances meet the requirements for granting a variance. 
 
Planning Commission Discussion: 
Planning Commissioners reviewed the request and held a public hearing relating to the application. 
Commissioners generally agreed that the variance to allow the applicant to construct a building addition 
that matches the existing building should be granted. Commissioners noted that landscaping should be 
provided in accordance with the landscape plan. Commissioners recommended approval of the request for 
site plan review and a variance. 
 
Neighbor Comments: 
The City has not received any written or verbal comments regarding the proposed site plan review. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Planning Commission recommended approval of the requested site plan review and variance with the 
following findings and conditions: 
 

1. The proposed Site Plan approval and Variance request meet all applicable conditions and 
restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 520.25, Site Plan Approval Procedures and Chapter V, 
Section 520.19, Procedures on Variances, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
2. Site plan approval shall allow the expansion of the building in accordance with the approved site 
plan prepared by Wenck Associates and attached hereto as Exhibit B. 
3. The total impervious surface coverage for this property will not exceed 30% of the total lot area. 
4. Landscaping shall be installed and maintained in accordance with the approved landscape plan 
attached hereto as Exhibit C. 
5. The variance will allow the expansion of the existing building to use exterior materials (matching 
steel panels) that exactly match the existing building. 
6. The City finds the following existing conditions of the property support the request for a variance 
and are consistent with the criteria for granting a variance: 
 

a. The applicants are proposing to use the property in a manner consistent with the 
Commercial Light Industrial – CLI zoning district. 
b. The character of the surrounding area is commercial or guided for commercial development. 
c. The proposed expansion of the building is generally in keeping with the City’s 
comprehensive plan. 
d. The additional landscaping will provide a buffer between the highway and the existing and 
proposed building. 
e. The variance will allow the expansion of the commercial business and number of employees 



 

7 
City of Independence 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 p.m., June 19, 2018 
 

on the property. 
 

7. Any change in use shall be subject to the City review and approval. Additional parking 
requirements may be required to be added to the site plan approval should the building change uses. 
8. No outdoor storage is permitted on the property. 
9. The applicant shall comply with all applicable storm water requirements and obtain any additional 
storm water approvals if determined necessary. 
10. Any new building or site lighting shall comply with the City’s applicable standards. The applicant 
shall submit cut sheets to the City prior to obtaining building permit approval. 
11. Any future development or improvements made to this property will need to be in compliance with 
all applicable standards relating to the Commercial-Light Industrial zoning district. 
12. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested site plan 
and variance approval. 
13. The resolution shall be recorded against the property. 
14. The applicant shall pay all applicable fees associated with the City processing the application for 
site plan review and a variance. 

 
Motion by Grotting, second by McCoy to approve RESOLUTION 18-0619-01 - Consideration of site 
plan approval and a variance to allow the expansion of the existing commercial building located on the 
subject property.  The expansion of the building will be permitted to be comprised of the same building 
materials as the existing building for the property located at 6511 US Highway 12 (PID No. 22-118-24-
44-0011). Ayes: Johnson, Grotting, Betts McCoy and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION 
DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
8. Approval of the 2017 Financial Audit. 

 
a. Fourth Quarter Financial Report 

 
Motion by Betts, second by Spencer to approve to approve the 2017 Financial Audit. Ayes: Johnson, 
Grotting, Betts McCoy and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
9. Open/Misc. 
 
10. Adjourn. 
 
Motion by Spencer, second by McCoy to adjourn at 6:51 p.m. Ayes: Johnson, McCoy, Grotting, Betts 
and Spencer. Nays: None. Absent: None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
        Trish Gronstal/ Recording Secretary 
 __________________________ 



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Serenity Hills - Letter of Credit Reduction 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, Administrator 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

 
Discussion: 
Elmer Schefers, developer of the Serenity Hills Subdivision, is requesting a full reduction in the amount of 
security being held by the City relating to the public improvements constructed within the development.  The 
City has completed final inspections of the development and has now fully accepted all public improvements 
made in accordance with the approved plans and specifications.  The developer has also prepared the final 
“as built” drawings of the development. 
 
It is recommended that the City release the remaining security relating to the development following payment 
of all fees associated with the review and approval of the development. 
 
 

 



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Twin Cities Polo Large Assembly Permit 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, Administrator 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

 
Discussion: 
Twin Cities Polo Club holds an annual fundraiser event called the Polo Classic.  This year the event will be 
held August 3rd – August 5th.   
 
The following summarizes several issues noted by the City: 
  

 There will be a combination of live and recorded music in front of the clubhouse on the field side for 
both Polo en Blanc and The Polo Classic (this is the same as last year). 
 

 The Friday event will be similar to last year with a dinner and music and auction. 
 

 There will not be any public events on Saturday.  There may be some players/teams practicing 
during the day. 
 

 The Sunday event will be the same format as in past years. 
 
The City has previously approved the large assembly permit for this event with the following conditions: 
 

1. State of Minnesota approval of the temporary liquor license. 
 

2. All attendees of the event that are 21 years of age or older shall be provided with a clear and 
visible identification method.  A typical method of clearly identifying attendees that are 21 years of 
age or older is by using wristbands.  

 
3. All food vendors will need to apply for and be licensed by the City prior to serving food at the event. 

 
4. You will be required to submit an escrow payment prior to issuance of the signed permit to be billed 

against for the costs associated with WHPS reserve officer attendance at the event.   
 

5. All conditions noted by West Hennepin Public Safety on the approved application. 
 

6. All amplified sound will stop at 10:00 PM in accordance with the City’s noise ordinance.  



 Page 2 

 

 
 
Summary: 
The City Council is being asked to consider approval of the large assembly permit with the proposed 
conditions.    

 

 
ATTACHMENTS: Large Assembly Permit Application 

 















 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Approval of Election Judges for the 2018 Elections 

 

To: City Council  

From: Beth Horner 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

 
 
Discussion: 
The City Council is required to appoint election judges for the upcoming 2018 primary and 
regular elections. Staff has prepared a list of election judges for consideration by the City 
Council. The following election judges can be considered for appointment by the City Council: 
 

 Charlie Hayes 

 Sharon Cook 

 Marilyn Hamilton 

 Jerry Wise 

 Marlys Timm 

 Jeanne Gardner 

 Kay Gabriel 

 Paula Savage 
 
 
Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the City Council approve the appointment of the aforementioned 
election judges. 
 

 





















































 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Annual Public Comment Opportunity for MS4 Permit 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, Administrator 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

 
Summary: 
Each year the City is required to offer an opportunity to the public to provide comments relating to the City’s 
MS4 Stormwater Permit.  No official public hearing is required.    
 

From the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency 

What is an MS4 

A municipal separate storm sewer system is a conveyance or system of conveyances (roads with 
drainage systems, municipal streets, catch basins, curbs, gutters, ditches, man-made channels, storm 
drains, etc.) that is also: 

 owned or operated by a public entity (which can include cities, townships, counties, military bases, 
hospitals, prison complexes, highway departments, universities, etc.) having jurisdiction over 
disposal of sewage, industrial wastes, stormwater, or other wastes, including special districts under 
State law such as a sewer district, flood control district or drainage districts, or similar entity, or an 
Indian tribe or an authorized Indian tribal organization, or a designated and approved management 
agency under section 208 of the Clean Water Act that discharges to waters of the United States; 

 designed or used for collecting or conveying stormwater; 
 which is not a combined sewer; and 
 which is not part of a publicly owned treatment works. 

The MS4 General Permit is designed to reduce the amount of sediment and pollution that enters 
surface and ground water from storm sewer systems to the maximum extent practicable. Stormwater 
discharges associated with MS4s are subject to regulation under the National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System/State Disposal System (NPDES/SDS). Through the MS4 General Permit, the 
system owner or operator is required to develop a stormwater pollution prevention program (SWPPP) 
that incorporates best management practices (BMPs) applicable to their MS4.  

 
 



 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Cooperative Water Resources Management Agreement - Baker Park  

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, Administrator 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

 
Summary: 
The City was presented with the details of a multi-agency ravine stabilization project earlier this year that 
would help to improve water quality in Lake Independence.  Independence, Medina, the Park District, and 
the Commission recognize that intergovernmental cooperation in achieving the phosphorus watershed load 
reductions called for in the Lake Independence TMDL to improve water quality in Lake Independence is in 
the mutual interest of the Parties, the citizens of Hennepin County, and the metropolitan area. The City 
would enter into the Agreement to facilitate the improvement of Lake Independence water quality through 
the implementation of the Baker Campground Ravine Stabilization project. 
 
The City of independence would be responsible for up to $10,500 of the total project cost which represents 
approximately 23% of the total.  The total cost of the project is equally split between the four 
aforementioned entities, with the remaining balance coming from grant funds.  The City’s share of the 
funding would come from the Pioneer Sarah Creek budget annually levied by the City.  
 
 
Council Consideration: 
Council is being asked to consider approving the Cooperative Agreement and authorize the Mayor and 
Administrator to execute the agreement on behalf of the City. 
 

 

Attachments: Cooperative Agreement 
 











Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Request for a Conditional Use Permit Amendment to Allow Additional Horses to be 
Boarded in Association with the Commercial Riding Stable on the Property Located 

at 4405 County Road 92 N. 

 

To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

Applicant: Mike and Bonnie Kuka 

Owner: Mike and Bonnie Kuka 

Location: 4405 County Road 92 N 

 
Request: 
Mike and Bonnie Kuka (Applicants/Owners) request that the City consider the following actions for the 
properties located at 4405 County Road 92 N, Independence, MN (PID No.s 04-118-24-24-0003 and 04-
118-24-31-0002): 
 

a. A conditional use permit amendment to allow additional horses to be boarded on the subject 
property in association with the existing commercial riding stable.   

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the west side of CSAH 92 and north of CSAH 11.  The property is comprised of 
rolling topography, ponds, wetlands and pasture.  The applicant has two properties under the same 
ownership.  The properties have the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information 4405 County Road 92 N 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage:  PID No. 04-118-24-31-0002 – 80.07 acres  
     PID No. 04-118-24-24-0003 – 17.06 acres  
 
 
 
 
 



Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 2 

 

Aerial View of 4405 County Road 92 N 

 
 
 
Previous Approval/Conditional Use Permit: 
The City approved a conditional use permit (CUP) for the subject properties in 2016 to allow a commercial 
riding stable.  The conditional use permit granted allowed a total of 25 horses to be boarded on the 
property.  The applicant is seeking a conditional use permit amendment to allow an additional 35 horses to 
be boarded on the properties (total of 60 horses).  A commercial riding stable is further defined in the City’s 
ordinance as follows: 
 

Subd. 69. "Riding stable, commercial." Stables, barns, and facilities for the keeping and riding of 
horses, both indoor and outdoor, operated as a livery or boarding stable, or other commercial recreational 
use.  
 
The commercial riding stable currently permitted allows the boarding of horses as well as hosting a limited 
number of additional equestrian related events within the facility.  Staff has reviewed the request and offers 
several discussion points for further consideration by the City. 

SUBJECT PROPERTIES 



Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 3 

 

1. The applicant is requesting permission to board up to 60 horses on the subject properties.  The two 
properties are comprised of a total of approximately 97 acres.  The City allows one (1) animal unit 
for the first 2 acres and one (1) additional animal unit for each additional acre.  Based on gross 
acreage, the property would allow a total of 96 animal units (1 horse equals one animal unit) on the 
properties.  The City has recently reviewed commercial boarding stables with an additional filter 
which looks at the total upland acreage (versus gross acreage) of a property when determining 
animal unit count.  Of the approximately 97 acres, staff has calculated that approximately 19 acres 
is wetland/drainage way and an additional 2 acres is covered with existing buildings and or parking 
areas.  Based on this calculation, there are approximately 76 upland acres which would allow a 
total of 75 animal units. 
 
There are many recommended acreage standards for the management of horses on a given 
property.  The City has historically required that a commercial stable maintain 1/3 acre of useable 
pasture area per animal unit.  To accommodate the 60 total horses, the applicant would need to 
maintain 20 acres of pasture area and 61 gross acres.  The applicant has provided the City with a 
plan that indicates the location of the proposed boarding pastures.  The applicant is not proposing 
to pasture all of the horses boarded on this property in the pasture areas.  The 25 horses that were 
permitted with the initial CUP will continue to be stabled in the existing barn and allowed to pasture 
within the existing pastures located to the north of the existing indoor riding arena.   
 
Ultimately, proper pasture and manure management is critical for maintaining and sustaining the 
land and managing the potential impacts of manure runoff.  Utilizing the proper pasture and 
manure management plans, it is possible that this property could accommodate the number of 
additional animal units being requested by the applicant.  The applicant is currently managing 
manure by spreading it on the subject property.  The City has recently required similar facilities to 
regularly test soil conditions to ensure that manure can be spread on the subject property.  The 
condition considered on past approvals is as follows:   
 

a. The applicant shall be required to test the soil in the existing pasture areas prior to land 
application of the manure.  If the soil has a high in-situ phosphorous concentration which 
exceeds the phosphorous uptake from the vegetation, the applicant would not be permitted 
to land apply the manure until such time as the phosphorus levels decrease.  The number 
and location of the soil samples will be determined by the City.  

 
2. There is an existing wetland located on the property.  The applicant is proposing to fence the 

pasture areas so that there is no access to the wetland from the pasture areas.  The City will want 
to consider requiring a minimum vegetative buffer distance from all wetlands.  Staff recommends 
that the City require a 50-foot vegetative buffer be maintained around the existing wetland and 
drainage areas.  This does not appear to be an issue based on the proposed pastures but would 
memorialize the buffer requirement to ensure changes in the pasture areas will not compromise 
water quality. 
 

3. All other aspects and conditions of the existing conditional use permit would remain.  The applicant 
has operated the facility for the past two years and the City has not identified or been made aware 
of any issues relating to the existing operation.  The applicant has worked with the City to mitigate 



Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 4 

 

impacts of the commercial stable on the surrounding properties.  The geographic location of this 
facility aids in its ability to mitigate potential impacts.  The property has been developed to 
accommodate a significant amount of traffic due to the regular use of the indoor riding area. 

 

Commercial riding stables are permitted as conditional uses in the Agriculture zoning district.  In order for 
the City to consider approval of an amendment to the conditional use permit request it must find that it 
meets the criteria established within the zoning ordinance.  The criteria for granting a conditional use permit 
are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the 
area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated 
traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 

treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 

The subject property is located directly south of the Shrine Horse Facility which operates as a commercial 
riding stable.  The relative size of the property, its access to County Road 92 and geographic seclusion 
help to mitigate potential issues related to operation of the proposed facility.  The City is not aware of any 
additional complaints or concerns relating to the operation of the commercial riding stable on this property.   
 
The proposed conditional use permit amendment to allow additional horses is generally consistent with the 
Agricultural nature of the property and surrounding land uses.  The applicant believes that resulting traffic, 
noise, and other measureable impacts should not be incrementally amplified as a result of the increased 
number of horses due to the existing and historic use of the property.  The City will need to determine if the 
requested conditional use permit amendment meets the criteria for granting a conditional use permit. 
 

 

 



Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 5 

 

Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any verbal or written comments at the time this report was prepared.   

 

Planning Commission Discussion: 

Planning Commissioners discussed the requested CUP Amendment and asked questions of staff and the 
applicants.  Commissioners asked if the CUP would no longer be conforming if one of the properties was 
sold.  Staff noted that the CUP would be applied to both properties.  Should the property be sold in the 
future, the CUP would no longer meet the conditions or would need to be amended.  Commissioners asked 
about the Ag Preserve status of the property.  It was noted that the property is currently in Ag Preserve.  
Commissioners discussed the origin of the 50-foot buffer requirement and it was noted that this represents 
the largest possible setback from wetland boundaries and was therefore determined to be appropriate for 
this application.  Commissioners asked about spreading manure on-site versus hauling it off-site.  Staff 
noted that the soil would be tested based on the same standard applied to the Shrine Horse farm to the 
north and then a determination would be made relating to the suitability of spreading the manure on-site or 
hauling it off-site.  Commissioners recommended adding an additional sentence to the resolution that would 
clarify this point.  Commissioners ultimately recommended approval of the CUP amendment to the City 
Council.  

 

Recommendation: 

The Planning Commission recommended approval of the request for a conditional use permit amendment to the 
City Council. Should the City Council approve the requested action, the following findings and conditions should 
be considered: 
 

1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit Amendment request meets all applicable conditions and 
restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 
2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure conformance with the 

conditions set forth in the resolution. 
   
3. All conditions stated in RESOLUTION No. 16-1213-02 shall remain in force with the exception of 

condition (f) stipulating the number of horses. 
 

4. Approval of the conditional use permit amendment shall be subject to the following additional 
conditions being added to the conditional use permit: 

 
a) No more than 60 horses shall be boarded on the property. 

 
b) The applicant shall be required to test the soil in the existing pasture areas prior to land 



Kuka Equestrian Center CUP Amendment Request 7.10.2018  
 Page 6 

 

application of the manure.  If the soil has a high in-situ phosphorous concentration which 
exceeds the phosphorous uptake from the vegetation, the applicant would not be permitted to 
land apply the manure until such time as the phosphorus levels decrease to a level found to 
be acceptable by the City.  The number and location of the soil samples will be determined 
by the City.  The City shall cause for the applicant to review the soil conditions annually and 
prior to any manure application to the property. 

 
c) The applicant shall maintain a minimum 50-foot vegetative buffer between the existing 

wetland and any pasture areas.  Animals shall not be permitted in the buffer areas.  
 
d) The applicant shall manage the fenced pastures areas so that a minimum of 70 percent 

vegetative cover is maintained on the during the growing season. 
 

5. The applicant shall pay for all costs associate with the City’s review and processing of the 
conditional use permit amendment and recording of the resolution. 
 

6. The Resolution shall be recorded against the property. 
 

 

Attachments: 

1. RESOLUTION 18-0710-01 
2. Approved Site Plan  
3. Pasture Fencing Plan  

 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-0710-01 

 

A RESOLUTION GRANTING APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
AMENDMENT TO ALLOW ADDITIONAL HORSES TO BE BOARDED IN ASSOCIATION 
WITH THE COMMERCIAL RIDING STABLE AS REQUESTED BY MIKE AND BONNIE 

KUKA FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 4405 COUNTY ROAD 92 
 
 
 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist in 
implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Mike and Bonnie Kuka, (the “Owners/Applicants”) submitted a request for a 
Conditional Use Permit Amendment to allow additional horses to be boarded in association with 
the Commercial Riding Stable operation on the property located at 4405 County Road 92 (PID 
No.s 04-118-24-24-0003 and 04-118-24-31-0002) (the “Property”); and  

 
WHEREAS, the Property is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Agriculture; and 
 
WHEREAS the requested Conditional Use Permit meets all requirements, standards and 

specifications of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for Agriculture lots; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on June 19, 2018 to review the 
application for a Conditional Use Permit Amendment, following mailed and published noticed as 
required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has review all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and has 



now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval; and  

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by Mike 
and Bonnie Kuka for a Conditional Use Permit Amendment to allow additional horses in 
association with the Commercial Riding Stable on the subject property per the City’s zoning 
regulations with the following conditions: 

 
1. The proposed Conditional Use Permit Amendment request meets all applicable 

conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of 
Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure 

conformance with the conditions set forth in the resolution. 
 

3. Should either property be subdivided or sold, the conditional use permit shall no 
longer be effective unless amended by the City of Independence. 

   
4. All conditions stated in RESOLUTION No. 16-1213-02 shall remain in force with 

the exception of condition (f) stipulating the number of horses. 
 

5. Approval of the conditional use permit amendment shall be subject to the following 
additional conditions being added to the conditional use permit: 

 
a) No more than 60 horses shall be boarded on the property. 

 
b) The applicant shall be required to test the soil in the existing pasture areas prior to 

land application of the manure.  If the soil has a high in-situ phosphorous 
concentration which exceeds the phosphorous uptake from the vegetation, the 
applicant would not be permitted to land apply the manure until such time as the 
phosphorus levels decrease to a level found to be acceptable by the City.  The 
number and location of the soil samples will be determined by the City.  The City 
shall cause for the applicant to review the soil conditions annually and prior to 
any manure application to the property. 

 
c) The applicant shall maintain a minimum 50-foot vegetative buffer between the 

existing wetland and any pasture areas.  Animals shall not be permitted in the 
buffer areas.  

 
d) The applicant shall manage the fenced pastures areas so that a minimum of 70 

percent vegetative cover is maintained on the during the growing season. 
 

6. The applicant shall pay for all costs associate with the City’s review and processing 
of the conditional use permit amendment and recording of the resolution. 
 

7. The Resolution shall be recorded against the property. 
 

 

 



This resolution was adopted by the City Council of the City of Independence on this 
10th day of July 2018, by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 

         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EXHIBIT A 

 
 



20'

ENCLOSED
RIDING ARENA

STALL BARN

PONDING AREA

SITE PLAN

FIG. 1

KUKA SITE IMPROVEMENTS

B
E

R
MPRIMARY FUTURE MOUND SEWER

SYSTEM LOCATION

PROPOSED
RESTROOM

JAN 2015
JTW JTW JTW AS NOTED

5199-001

Note:
Existing topographic information provided is based on LIDAR
and dimensions provided by the Owner.  Existing elevations and
grades shall be field verified prior to any work taking place.

APPROXIMATE PROPERTY BOUNDARIES
BASED ON AVAILABLE HENNIPEN COUNTY
GIS DATA

28
' R

,
TY

P.

60
'

26' WIDE FIRE LANE 
(13" AGGREGATE BASE, CLASS 5)

GRASS PASTURE PARKING AREA
(62,000 SF/60 STALLS)

B
E

R
M

OVERFLOW
PASTURE PARKING AREA

POLE MOUNTED
FLOOD LIGHT, TYP.

EXISTING YARD LIGHT
FIXTURE TO BE REPLACED
WITH HIGH-PRESSURE
SODIUM FIXTURE

3-HANDICAP ACCESSIBLE PARKING SPACES,
INCLUDING 1-VAN ACCESSIBLE
SIGNS TO BE INSTALLED

EMPLOYEE DESIGNATED
PARKING SPACES

SIGN TO BE PLACED AT
THE FRONT OF EACH
HANDICAP PARKING

SPACE

01/25/2015

PARKING CALCULATIONS:
- TYPICAL EVENT ATTENDENCE = 125 PEOPLE
- 125/3 = 42 REQUIRED PARKING SPACES
- MAXIMUM OF 3 EMPLOYEES WORKING EVENTS
- TOTAL PARKING SPACES REQUIRED = 42 + 3 = 45
- HANDICAP PARKING SPACES REQUIRED = 3
(INCL. 1-VAN ACCESSIBLE, BASED ON MN
ACCESSIBILITY REQUIREMENTS) 
- TYPCIAL VEHICLE FOR EVENT REQUIRES 12' X 50'
SPACES (600 SF/SPACE).  60 SPACES IDENTIFIED
(INCLUDING DRIVE LANES) > 45.  PARKING AREA IS
SUFFICIENT.

120'

20'

SECONDARY  FUTURE MOUND SEWER
SYSTEM LOCATION

2-PERMANENT PORTABLE
SANITARY DEVICES

50'

12'

30'
TYP

PRIMARY PEDESTRIAN
AND EQUESTRIAN
PATHWAY TO ARENA

10' VEGETATED
BUFFER STRIP

(LOW GROW-NO MOW)

P

S

S

P

ANTICIPATED FUTURE
PRINCIPAL STRUCTURE
LOCATION W/ SEPTIC
LOCATIONS IDENTIFIED

HOUSE

12
0'

20'

29
5'

2-8" PVC SDR 26 PIPES AT FIRE
WHERE FIRE LANE CROSSES

SWALE.



OFFICE
Perimeter
600' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
1,336' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
784' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
217' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
461' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
735' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
737' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
742' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
742' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
741' 

OFFICE
Perimeter
1,043' 

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 1

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 2

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 3

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 4

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 5

OFFICE
Typewriter
Pen 6



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Request for a Zoning Map Amendment to Amend the Zoning from A-Agriculture 
to CLI-Commercial/Light Industrial, Site Plan Review and Conditional Use 

Permit for the Property Located at 2020 County Road 90 

 

To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

Applicants: Fish and Sons Properties, LLC 
 

Owners: Fish and Sons Properties, LLC 
 

Location: 2020 County Road 90 

 

Request: 
Fish and Son Properties (Applicant/Owner) request that the City consider the following action 
for the property located at 2020 County Road 90 (PID No. 23-118-24-23-0002) in Independence, 
MN: 

a. Rezoning of the subject property from AG-Agriculture to CLI- Commercial Light 
Industrial. 
 

b. Site Plan Review for the proposed commercial use of the property. 
 

c. Conditional Use Permit to allow boat service and repair on the subject property. 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The subject property is located along the east side of County Road 90 just north of US Hwy 12. 
There is an existing home and two (2) detached accessory structures located on the property.  
There is an existing wetland that borders the entire east side of the property.  After subtracting 
the portion of the site that is wetland, there is approximately + 2.88 acres of upland.  The 
property has the following site characteristics:    
 

Property Information: 2020 County Road 90 (PID No. 23-118-24-23-0002) 
 Existing Zoning: A- Agriculture 
 Proposed Zoning: CLI-Commercial-Light Industrial 
 Comprehensive Plan: CLI-Commercial-Light Industrial 
 Acreage: 5.7 acres (~2.88 upland)  



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 2 

 

Aerial View 2020 County Road 90 

 
 
 

Discussion: 
The applicants recently purchased the subject property.  The existing home is not occupied by 
the owners and is rented out as a residence.  There is an existing conditional use permit on the 
property that was granted in 1972 and allowed a commercial trucking business to exist on the 
property.  While the existing CUP allows the use of the property for storing and maintaining 
equipment for a trucking and construction business inside the existing buildings, it does not 
allow the use of the property for any other purposes.  The applicants would like to use the 
property for uses permitted in the Commercial Light Industrial – CLI zoning district, including 
the storage and potentially servicing of boats. 
 
REZONING: 
The property is currently zoned A-Agriculture and guided by the Comprehensive Plan as 
Commercial Light Industrial.  (see Comprehensive Plan and Zoning Map attached).  This 
property is the only remaining property that lies north of City Hall which is guided for CLI but 
has not been rezoned.   



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 3 

 

 
There are several factors to consider relating to rezoning a property.  The City’s ordinance has 
established criteria for consideration in granting a zoning amendment.   
 

520.07.  Criteria on zoning amendments.  Subdivision 1.  The planning commission and 
the city council may consider, without limitation, the following criteria in approving or denying 
zoning amendments.  

 
Subd. 2.  Zoning amendments must conform to the Independence city 
comprehensive plan.  
 
Subd. 3.  The zoning amendment application must demonstrate that a broad 
public purpose or benefit will be served by the amendment.  
 
Subd. 4.  The zoning amendment application must demonstrate that the proposed 
zoning is consistent with and compatible with surrounding land uses and 
surrounding zoning districts.  
 
Subd. 5.  The zoning amendment application must demonstrate that the subject 
property is generally unsuited for the uses permitted in the present zoning district 
and that substantial changes have occurred in the area since the subject property 
was previously zoned.  
 
Subd. 6.  The zoning amendment application must demonstrate merit beyond the 
private interests of the property owner.   

 
As it relates to meeting the criteria for granting a zoning map amendment, the following 
information can be considered: 

 
Subd. 2. The proposed rezoning is consistent with the comprehensive plan. 
 
Subd. 3. As stated in the Comprehensive Plan, rezoning the property will provide 
the City with additional commercial property which generally serves a broader 
purpose for attracting and retaining business in the City.  
 
Subd. 4. The property has historically been used as a commercial property.  The 
neighboring properties to the north and south are currently used for commercial 
purposes.  There is a substantial wetland that separates the existing property from 
the residential properties to the north.   
 
Subd. 5. The property is currently zoned agriculture.  The use of property as an 
agriculture operation is somewhat restricted due to the limited amount of tillable 
acreage.  The city has identified that this property will be better suited for 
commercial activities.   
 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 4 

 

Subd. 6.  The City will need to determine that the rezoning of the property has 
public merit that reach beyond the interests of the property owner.   
 

The applicants have indicated that they will expand the use of the property if it is rezoned.  All 
future uses will be subject to meeting all applicable standards set forth in the City’s zoning 
ordinance.  All new construction or expansion of use will require the applicant to submit a site 
plan review application.  The application will be reviewed by the City and may be forwarded to 
the Planning Commission and City Council depending on the scope and compliance of the 
proposed improvements.    
 
There are several other factors that should be noted and considered by the City.  The minimum 
lot size in the CLI district is 2.5 acres.  The subject property is a little over 5 acres with 
approximately 2.8 acres of upland.  The minimum lot frontage for properties in the CLI district is 
200 LF.  The subject property has approximately 222 LF of frontage.  There is an existing house 
on the property.  Residential is not a permitted use in the CLI district.  The use of the property 
for residential and the existing house will be “grandfathered in” and become a permitted non-
conforming use after the rezoning.  The use and structure will be subject to all criteria relating to 
non-conforming uses.   The septic system that serves this home was found to be non-compliant 
and is in the process of being replaced.  The applicant has also been working with the City to 
provide sewer service to the larger existing accessory structure.  
 
The rezoning from A-Agriculture to CLI-Commercial-Light Industrial does not appear to impact 
the subject property as it relates to the current lot standards in the City’s zoning ordinance.  The 
proposed rezoning does not appear to create a property that is inconsistent with the surrounding 
properties.  Given the historical use of the property and the existing physical separation between 
this property and any surrounding residential properties, there does not appear to be any 
substantial adverse effects on the surrounding or subject properties in the after condition as a 
result of this rezoning.  The rezoning of this property would be subject to the City revoking the 
existing Conditional Use Permit. 
 

SITE PLAN: 
A change in use within the CLI zoning district typically triggers site plan review by the City.  
The applicant is not proposing to expand any of the existing buildings at this time.  The applicant 
is planning on using the property and buildings for indoor and outdoor boat storage and possibly 
boat service and repair.  Indoor boat storage would be permitted on the property if it meets all 
applicable requirements.  Outdoor boat storage is permitted if properly screened in accordance 
with applicable standards provided in the zoning ordinance.  Boat repair and service is a 
conditional use within the CLI zoning district as it is similar to automobile service and repair.   

Subd. 8. Storage and display. All storage, display, service, repair, or processing must 
be conducted wholly within an enclosed building or behind an opaque fence or wall 
not less than six feet high, provided that materials stored shall not exceed the height of 
the fence. Outdoor storage is permitted only in conjunction with a principal building 
on the same property. 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 5 

 

The applicant has prepared a proposed site plan which identifies the location of the existing 
buildings, driveway, existing house and proposed outdoor storage area.  The plan further depicts 
the location of a proposed opaque fence, landscaping and gate.  The applicant has worked with 
the City to define the outdoor storage areas, as well as to provide screening around the 
perimeter of the storage areas.  There is an existing tree line that surrounds the property that 
further screens the rear portion of the site. 
 

SITE PLAN 

 

 
The City has reviewed the plans as they relate to the site plan review standards provided in the 
zoning ordinance.  In addition, the City has criteria for granting a conditional use permit.  The 
criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning 
Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general 
welfare of occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other 
property in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the 
normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for 
uses predominant in the area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate 
anticipated traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed 
use. 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 6 

 

5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site 
sewage treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is 
available to protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, 
natural topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar 
ecological and environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, 
dust, noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density 
standards. 

 
As it relates to both site plan review and the conditional use permit, the following items should 
be further considered by the City: 
 

1. The applicant is not proposing to expand or renovate the existing buildings on the 
property.  The existing CUP allows for the commercial use of the larger building for a 
trucking business. 
 

2. The proposed use of indoor and outdoor boat storage is permitted within the CLI zoning 
district.   

 
3. The requested CUP for boat service and repair is consistent with other boat storage 

facilities in the CLI zoning district.  The City will require that the portion of the building 
used for boat service and repair have a concrete floor with requisite waste traps as 
required by the building code.  In addition, the boat service and repair area within the 
building may need to be separated from other portions of the building in accordance with 
applicable building codes.   

 
a. Staff has reviewed the building codes with the applicant and noted that all uses in 

the building will need to be reviewed by an architect and given a prescribed 
occupancy rating.  Based on that rating, additional improvements may be 
required.  
  

b. Boat service and repair will need to comply with  
 

4. There is no change proposed to the existing outdoor storage and parking areas.  The 
applicant has already cleaned up a portion of rear storage area remaining from the 
previous owner. 
 

5. The applicant has provided the City with a structural analysis of the buildings verifying 
that they can meet current snow loads.  This is a basic requirement for being able to use 
the buildings for commercial uses. 
 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 7 

 

6. No boats will be permitted and or displayed for public sale on any portion of the 
property. 
 

7. No outdoor storage or parking associated with the commercial use of the property will be 
permitted outside of the fenced and screened storage areas. 

 
8. Any additional commercial uses will be subject to all applicable ordinance requirements 

relating to CLI zoned property.   
 

9. The applicant is proposing to screen the street facing side of the property using a 
combination of fencing and landscaping.  The City generally requires screening to be 
placed at a spacing of 1 tree per 40 linear feet.  The applicant is showing 6 evergreen 
trees which would meet this requirement.  The minimum tree size is 6’ ht. 

 
10. Fencing and screening will be required to be installed prior to any outdoor storage being 

permitted on the property. 
 
The City staff has met with the applicant on several occasions to discuss the proposed rezoning, 
site plan review and conditional use permit for boat service and repair.  The rezoning of this 
property is consistent with the comprehensive plan.  The existing residential home on the 
property will become a legal non-conforming structure once rezoned.  This condition previously 
existed on the property to the north.  The residential home was eventually razed.  This property 
has been used as a commercial property since the early 1970’s.  The use of the property for boat 
storage is permitted in the CLI zoning district.  The applicant is proposing to screen the outdoor 
storage which will likely be perceived as an improvement to the existing and historic use of the 
property.  Boat service and repair within the existing building is generally consistent with other 
boat storage and service facilities in the City.  In addition, the property to the south has an 
automobile service and repair business.  The City’s other design, paving and landscaping 
standards would apply to new construction or expansion of the existing buildings.  The City will 
need to find that the criteria for granting a conditional use permit have been met by the applicant.   
 

Neighbor Comments: 

The City has received a written comment from a commercial property owner located at CSAH 
90 and Highway 12.  The concern relates to the City requiring the same standards for this 
building as those imposed on their building relating to the servicing of boats.  The City has noted 
that concrete floors and waste traps will be required for those portions of the buildings where 
boat service and repair would occur.   

 

Planning Commission Discussion: 

Planning Commissioners discussed the application and asked questions of staff and the 
applicants.  Commissioners asked for clarification relating to the rezoning and comprehensive 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 8 

 

plan.  It was noted that the this is the only property remaining north of Highway 12 and east of 
CSAH 90 that has not been rezoned.  Commissioners asked about the surface requirements and 
existing conditions of the outdoor storage area as shown on the site plan.  Staff stated that the 
area to be used for outdoor storage is currently surfaced with class 5 and that the City would 
include a condition requiring all outdoor storage areas to be surfaced with a minimum of class 5 
base.  Commissioners asked for more information relating to the requirements for a service bay 
within the existing building.  It was noted that any portion of the building used for servicing 
boats would need to meet all applicable building code requirements, have a concrete floor and 
flammable waste trap.  Commissioners discussed the screening of the outdoor storage area.  
Commissioners noted that the eastern portion of the site can be seen from the residential 
properties to the northeast during the winter months.  Commissioners asked about the height of 
the fence and the requirements for screening.  Planning Commissioners recommended that the 
City work with the property owners to add some additional evergreen landscaping to the 
northeast property line.  Ultimately Planning Commissioners recommended approval of the 
request for rezoning, site plan review and a conditional use permit to allow boat servicing. 

 

Recommendation: 

The Planning Commission recommended approval to the City Council of the request for a zoning map 
amendment, site plan review and a conditional use permit to allow boat service and repair.  Should the 
City Council approve the application, the following findings and conditions should be included. 

1. The proposed rezoning, site plan review and conditional use permit meet all applicable 
criteria stated in Chapter V, Section 500, Planning and Land Use Regulations of the City 
of Independence Zoning Ordinance.  
 

2. The proposed land use and zoning will be in conformance with the City of Independence 
Comprehensive Plan and the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance.  
  

3. The Conditional Use Permit shall have the following conditions: 
 

a) There can be no change to the existing outdoor storage and parking area limits or   
surfacing outside of routine maintenance.   

 
b) No boats will be permitted and or displayed for public sale on any portion of the 

property. 
 

c) No outdoor storage or parking associated with the commercial use of the property will 
be permitted outside of the fenced and screened storage areas. 

 
d) No boat servicing shall occur outside of the designated and approved service bays 

wholly within the existing building.  Any portion of the building used for servicing 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 9 

 

boats will need to meet all applicable building code requirements, make building 
permit application and receive a certificate of occupancy verifying all applicable 
building codes have been satisfied, have a concrete floor and flammable waste trap.   

 
e) Any additional commercial uses will be subject to all applicable ordinance 

requirements relating to CLI zoned property.   
 

f) The applicant shall be required to install the proposed landscape screening in 
accordance with the approved landscape plan attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.  The 
City requires screening to be placed at a spacing of 1 tree per 40 linear feet.  The 
minimum tree size is 6’ ht. or 2” cal. 

 
g) Fencing and screening will be required to be installed in accordance with the proposed 

site plan prior to any outdoor storage being permitted on the property (see attached 
Exhibit B). 

 
4. Any future development or improvements made to this property will need to be in 

compliance with all applicable standards relating to the Commercial-Light Industrial 
zoning district.   

 
5. The City will revoke the existing Conditional Use Permits pertaining to the subject 

property. 
 

6. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 
actions. 

 
7. RESOLUTION 18-0710-03 shall be recorded against the property. 

 

 

Attachments: 

1. ORDINANCE 2018-02  
2. RESOLUTION 18-0710-03  
3. Property Pictures 
4. Application 
5. Comprehensive Plan 
6. Zoning Map 
7. Original CUP 
8. Site Plan 
9. Landscape Plan

 

 

 



2020 County Road 90 Rezoning/Site Plan/CUP  7.10.2018  
 Page 10 

 

Attachment #1 

2020 County Road 90 (looking north) 

 

 
2020 County Road 90 (looking east) 

 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-02 
 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
ZONING CODE, INCLUDING ZONING MAPS 

 
 
THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA DOES ORDAIN: 
 
Section 1. The City of Independence Zoning Code be amended to rezone 5.77 acres of 
property, 2020 County Road 90 (PID No. No. 23-118-24-23-0002), from A-Agriculture to CLI-
Commercial-Light Industrial and legally described as follows: 

 
All that part of the South 223.5 feet of the West 70 rods of the Northwest Quarter of Section 
23, Township 118, Range 24 lying South of Pioneer Creek, according to the United States 
Government Survey thereof, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 

 
Section 2.   The City Administrator is hereby directed to amend the City of Independence 
Zoning Ordinance, including Zoning Maps, in accordance with the foregoing amendment. 
 
Section 3.  Effective date.  This ordinance shall be and is hereby declared to be in full force and 
effect after its passage and publication according to law. 
  
 
Adopted this 10th day of July 2018. 
 
         
       Marvin D. Johnson, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
______________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 



 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-0710-03 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING SITE PLAN REVIEW AND CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
TO ALLOW THE COMMERCIAL USE OF THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND BOAT 

SERVICING TO OCCUR ON THE PROEPRTY LOCATED AT 2020 COUNTY ROAD 90 
 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning ordinance and other official controls to assist in 
implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Fish and Son Properties (Applicant/Owner) request that the City consider site 
plan review and a conditional use permit to allow the commercial use and boat servicing for the 
property located at 2020 County Road 90 (PID No. 23-118-24-23-0002) (the “Property”); and  
 

WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Commercial Light Industrial – CLI; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Property is legally described as shown and depicted on Exhibit A attached 

hereto; and 

WHEREAS the requested Site Plan Review and Conditional Use Permit meets all 
requirements, standards and specifications of the City of Independence zoning ordinance for 
property zoned Commercial Light Industrial - CLI; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on June 19, 2018 to review the 
application for Site Plan Review and Variance, following mailed and published noticed as required 
by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and has 



now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by Fish 
and Son Properties and grants Site Plan Review and a Conditional Use Permit for the subject 
property in accordance with the City’s zoning regulations with the following findings and 
conditions: 

1. The proposed Site Plan approval and Conditional Use Permit request meets all 
applicable conditions and restrictions stated in Chapter V, Section 520.25, Site Plan 
Approval Procedures and Chapter V, Section 520.09, Procedures for Conditional Use 
Permits, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 

 
2. The proposed rezoning, site plan review and conditional use permit meet all applicable 

criteria stated in Chapter V, Section 500, Planning and Land Use Regulations of the 
City of Independence Zoning Ordinance.  
 

3. The proposed land use and zoning will be in conformance with the City of 
Independence Comprehensive Plan and the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance.  
  

4. The Conditional Use Permit shall have the following conditions: 
 

a) The conditional use permit shall be reviewed annually by the City. 
 

b) There can be no change to the existing outdoor storage and parking area limits or   
surfacing outside of routine maintenance.   

 
c) No boats will be permitted and or displayed for public sale on any portion of the 

property. 
 

d) No outdoor storage or parking associated with the commercial use of the property 
will be permitted outside of the fenced and screened storage areas. 

 
e) No boat servicing shall occur outside of the designated and approved service bays 

wholly within the existing building.  Any portion of the building used for servicing 
boats will need to meet all applicable building code requirements, make building 
permit application and receive a certificate of occupancy verifying all applicable 
building codes have been satisfied, have a concrete floor and flammable waste trap.   

 
f) Any additional commercial uses will be subject to all applicable ordinance 

requirements relating to CLI zoned property.   
 

g) The applicant shall be required to install the proposed landscape screening in 
accordance with the approved landscape plan attached hereto as EXHIBIT B.  The 
City requires screening to be placed at a spacing of 1 tree per 40 linear feet.  The 
minimum tree size is 6’ ht. or 2” cal. 

 
h) Fencing and screening will be required to be installed in accordance with the 

proposed site plan, attached hereto as EXHIBIT B, prior to any outdoor storage 
being permitted on the property  



 
5. Any future development or improvements made to this property will need to be in 

compliance with all applicable standards relating to the Commercial-Light Industrial 
zoning district.   

 
6. The City will revoke the existing Conditional Use Permits on the subject property. 

 
7. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the requested 

actions. 
 

8. RESOLUTION 18-0710-03 shall be recorded against the property. 
 
 
This resolution was adopted by the city council of the City of Independence on this 10th day of July 
2018, by a vote of __ ayes and ___ nays.    

 
_____________________________ 

       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 









Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 1 

 

City of Independence 

Final Plat for a 17 Lot Subdivision to be Kown as Hamilton Century Farms and  
Located on the Property at 385 County Road 110 N. 

 

To: City Council  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: July 10, 2018 

Applicant: Marilyn Hamilton 

Owner: Hamilton Bros Inc. 

Location: 385 County Road 110 N 

 

Request: 
Hamilton Bros. Inc. (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following actions for the property 
located at 385 County Road 110 N (PID No. 35-118-24-41-0001) in Independence, MN: 
 

a. Final Plat to allow the subdivision of the property consistent with the approved Preliminary 
Plat. 

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located on the west side of County Road 110 N and just south of the Luce Line Trail.  There 
is an existing home and several accessory buildings located on the property.  The property is comprised of 
densely wooded areas, wetlands and tillable acreage.  
 

Property Information: 385 County Road 110 N  
 Zoning: Rural Residential 
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 

Acreage: ~106 acres  
  

 

 

 

   



Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 2 

 

             Subject Property Aerial 

 

 
Discussion: 
The City approved the rezoning and preliminary plat for the proposed subdivision in April, 2018.  The 
applicant is now asking the City to consider final plat for the 17-lot subdivision of the subject property.  The 
applicant has finalized the wetland delineation as well as prepared final storm water, grading, street and 
utility plans for the proposed subdivision.  The final plat is consistent with the preliminary plat and is 
considered a formality to ensure that all proper securities and agreements are completed.   
 
Since the approval of the preliminary plat, the following items should be noted as a part of the City’s 
consideration of the application: 
 



Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 3 

 

1. The applicant revised the plan based on the Planning Commission’s recommendation to remove 
the road connection to the southern property.  Hamilton Hills road has been shortened to improve 
grading and provide a better storm water solution along the southern property line.   
 

2. The applicant has finalized the wetland delineation and confirmed that there was not a delineated 
wetland across Lots 5 and 6. 

 
3. The City Council approved the preliminary plat based on the notion that Hamilton Bros., Inc. will 

retain ownership of the Outlots. 
 

4. The applicant worked with Hennepin County pertaining to the access into this property.  Hennepin 
County has now approved the application for access to the County Road.  The County is going to 
require a south bound right turn lane into the development.  No north bound left turn lane is 
warranted at this time and will not be required as a part of this development.   

 
5. The City has completed a full review of the proposed final plat and has been working with the 

applicant to make all necessary corrections.   The City has prepared a development agreement for 
approval by the City Council.   

 
6. Storm water management has been reviewed by the City and several revisions have been asked of 

the applicant.  Minnehaha Creek Watershed District has reviewed the Final Plat application and is 
still working with the applicant to resolve several conditions.  The City will incorporate any 
outstanding issues into the final plat conditions of approval.   

 
7. In addition to requiring the long-term maintenance of the storm water conveyance system by the 

homeowner’s association (HOA), the City will establish a storm sewer improvement tax district for 
this development.  The City is permitted to establish a storm sewer improvement tax district to 
acquire, construct, reconstruct, extend, maintain and otherwise improve storm sewer systems and 
related facilities within the District and to levy a tax on all taxable property within the District to 
finance such activities.  The district boundary would directly correspond with the extents of this 
development and would provide the City with the ability to maintain the system in the future if the 
HOA is no longer solvent.  The City can establish this district by ordinance following a public 
hearing on the matter.  The ordinance has been prepared for formal adoption following the 
requisite public hearing to be held at the Council Meeting. 

 
 
Park Dedication 

The proposed subdivision is subject to the City’s park dedication requirements.  The park dedication is 
broken down as follows:  
 

Park dedication fee $3,500 per lot up to 4.99 acres, plus $750 per acre for each acre over 5. 
 

The park dedication fee requirement for this development is anticipated to be $56,000 (16 lots x $3,500) 
 



Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 4 

 

Recommendation: 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission pertaining to the request for Final Plat 
approval.  Should the Planning Commission recommend approval of the Final Plat, the following findings and 
conditions should be included: 
 

1. The proposed Final Plat meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter V, Planning 
and Land Use Regulations and Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance. 
 

2. City Council approval of the Final Plat shall be subject to the following: 
 

a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the 
development, as requested in the City’s review letter dated March 9, 2018. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning Commission 
and City Council.  

 
c. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to the water 

resources and as outlined in the water resources review letters from Hakanson Anderson 
Associates, dated March 6, 2018 and June 15, 2018. 

 
d. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements made in the City 

Engineer’s review letters dated, March 8 and June 15, 2018 (MSA). 
 

e. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by 
Minnehaha Creek Watershed District and receive all applicable approvals. 

 
f. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions prescribed by 

Hennepin County and receive all applicable approvals. 
 

g. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this development. 
 

h. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development agreement for all 
public improvements associated with this development. 

 
i. The Applicant shall consent to the establishment of the storm sewer improvement tax district. 

 
j. The Applicant shall enter into a storm water maintenance agreement pertaining to the required 

storm water ponds to be located on the property. 
 

k. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and covenants. 
 

l. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory agency 
approval and permits prior to construction. 



Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 5 

 

 
3. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in the 

Development Agreement. 
 

4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the Final Plat. 
 

5. The Applicant shall record the Final Plat within ninety (90) days of the City Council approval of the 
Final Plat. 

 
 

Attachments: 
1. RESOLUTION 18-0710-04  
2. ORDINANCE 2018-03  
3. Development Agreement 
4. Property Pictures 
5. Application 
6. Site Survey 
7. Final Plat 
8. Final Construction Plans 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Hamilton Century Farms. – Final Plat Review Page 6 

 

 

 

 

View Looking West 

 
 

 
 

View Looking South 



 

 

RESOLUTION NO. 18-0710-04 

 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE FINAL PLAT  
FOR A RESIDENTIAL DEVELOPMENT TO BE KNOWN AS   

HAMILTON CENTURY FARM SUBMITTED BY  
HAMILTON BROS. INC. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Independence (the “City) is a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota; and 

WHEREAS, the City adopted a comprehensive plan in 2010 to guide the development of 
the community; and  

WHEREAS, the City has adopted a zoning and subdivision ordinance and other official 
controls to assist in implementing the comprehensive plan; and  

WHEREAS, Hamilton Bros. Inc. (the “Applicant”) submitted a final plat for the property 
located at 385 County Road 110 N. (PID No. 35-118-24-41-0001) (the “Property”); and  

WHEREAS, the property is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto; and 
 
WHEREAS, the property is further depicted on Exhibit B attached hereto; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Property is zoned Rural Residential; and 

WHEREAS, the preliminary plat was approved by the City on April 17, 2018; and 

WHEREAS the final plat is found to be consistent with the approved preliminary plat and 
meets all requirements, standards and specifications of the City of Independence zoning and 
subdivision ordinances for Rural Residential lots; and 

WHEREAS the Planning Commission held a public hearing on June 19, 2018 to review the 
application for final plat following mailed and published noticed as required by law; and  

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed all materials submitted by the Applicant; 
considered the oral and written testimony offered by the applicant and all interested parties; and has 



now concluded that the application is in compliance with all applicable standards and can be 
considered for approval. 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA, that it should and hereby does approve the application by 
Hamilton Bros, Inc. for final plat for a residential development of the HAMILTON CENTURY 
FARM subdivision per the City’s subdivision and zoning regulations with the following conditions: 

1. The proposed Final Plat meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated Chapter 
V, Planning and Land Use Regulations and Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City 
of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. City Council approval of the Final Plat shall be subject to the following: 
 

a. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to 
the development, as requested in the City’s review letter dated March 9, 2018. 
 

b. The Applicant shall make all revisions requested in the staff report, by the Planning 
Commission and City Council.  

 
c. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements pertaining to 

the water resources and as outlined in the water resources review letters from 
Hakanson Anderson Associates, dated March 6, 2018 and June 15, 2018. 

 
d. The Applicant shall address all comments and applicable requirements made in the 

City Engineer’s review letters dated, March 8 and June 15, 2018 (MSA). 
 

e. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions 
prescribed by Minnehaha Creek Watershed District and receive all applicable 
approvals. 

 
f. The Applicant shall comply with all applicable regulations and conditions 

prescribed by Hennepin County and receive all applicable approvals. 
 

g. The Applicant shall enter into a development agreement with the City for this 
development. 

 
h. The Applicant shall provide a letter of credit as established by the development 

agreement for all public improvements associated with this development. 
 

i. The Applicant shall consent to the establishment of the storm sewer improvement 
tax district. 
 

j. The Applicant shall provide the City with copies of the HOA agreement and 
covenants. 

 
k. The Applicant shall obtain all necessary City, County, PCA and other regulatory 

agency approval and permits prior to construction. 
 

3. The Applicant shall pay the park dedication fees in accordance with the terms defined in 
the Development Agreement. 



 
4. The Applicant shall pay for all costs associated with the City’s review of the Final Plat. 

 
5. The Applicant shall record the Final Plat within ninety (90) days of the City Council 

approval of the Final Plat. 
 

 

This resolution was adopted by the city council of the City of Independence on this 10th 
day of July 2018 by a vote of ____ayes and ____nays. 

         

______________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
ATTEST: 

 
 __________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator  
 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 2018-03 

 
AN ORDINANCE ESTABLISHING THE HAMILTON CENTURY FARM 

 STORM SEWER IMPROVEMENT TAX DISTRICT 
 

 
 THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE, MINNESOTA DOES ORDAIN: 
 
 Section I.  Background:  Findings.   
 
 1.01.  The City is authorized by Minnesota Statutes, Sections 444.16 – 444.21 (the “Act”) to 
establish a storm sewer improvement tax district (the “District”) to acquire, construct, reconstruct, 
extend, maintain and otherwise improve storm sewer systems and related facilities within the 
District in accordance with the Act and to levy a tax on all taxable property within the District to 
finance such activities. 
 
 1.02.  It is found and determined that it is in the best interests of Independence and its storm 
water management program that the District be established for the property being developed as 
Hamilton Century Farm.  The District shall be comprised of the following land within 
Independence legally described as follows: 

 
The North Half of the Southeast Quarter and the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter 
in Section 35, Township 118, Range 24, Hennepin County, Minnesota, except that part of 
said Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter lying South of Painter Creek. 

 
And to be platted as Hamilton Century Farm, Hennepin County, Minnesota. 

 
 Section II.  Establishment:  Authorizations. 
 
 2.01.  The Hamilton Century Farm Storm Sewer Improvement Tax District is established.  
The city shall have all powers and authority conferred by the Act in the operation and financing of 
the activities of the District. 
 



 2.02.  The boundaries of the District are as described above. 
 
 2.03.  The City Administrator is authorized and directed to file a certified copy of the 
ordinance with the Hennepin County Auditor, the Office of the Hennepin County Recorder. 
 
 Section III.  This ordinance shall become effective upon its adoption and publication and 
shall be recorded with the Hennepin County Auditor, Registrar of Titles and Recorder. 
 
 Adopted by the City Council of the city of Independence this 10th day of July 2018. 
 
 
 
               
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
_____________________________________ 
Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
              
 
 
 
 
 

DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 

THE CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 

AND 
 

HAMILTON BROS., INC. 
 

FOR 
 

HAMILTON CENTURY FARM 
 
 
 
 

 
              
This document drafted by: 
 
Kennedy & Graven, Chartered 
470 U.S. Bank Plaza 
200 South Sixth Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
(612) 337-9300 (RJV) 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
PAGE 

 
1. Right to Proceed ................................................................................................................1 
2. Plans; Improvements .........................................................................................................2 
3. Erosion Control .................................................................................................................2 
4. Site Grading; Haul Routes ................................................................................................3 
5. Construction of Subdivision Improvements .....................................................................3 
6. Streets ................................................................................................................................5 
7. Stormwater Improvements ................................................................................................6 
8. Street Lighting and Signs ..................................................................................................6 
9. Improvement Deposit........................................................................................................7 
10. Park Dedication Requirements .........................................................................................8 
11. Responsibility for Costs; Escrow for Construction Inspection .........................................8 
12. Developer’s Default ..........................................................................................................9 
13. Insurance ...........................................................................................................................9 
14. Floodplain Regulations .....................................................................................................9 
15. No Building Permits Approved; Certificates of Occupancy .............................................9 
16. Clean up and Dust Control ..............................................................................................10 
17. Compliance with Laws ...................................................................................................10 
18. Agreement Runs With the Land .....................................................................................10 
19. Indemnification ...............................................................................................................10 
20. Assignment .....................................................................................................................10 
21. Notices ............................................................................................................................10 
22. Severability .....................................................................................................................11 
23. Non-waiver .....................................................................................................................11 
24. Counterparts ....................................................................................................................11 
 
SIGNATURES .............................................................................................................................. 12-13 
 
EXHIBIT A LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY 
EXHIBIT B  LIST OF PLAN DOCUMENTS 
EXHIBIT C FORM OF STORMWATER MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
EXHIBIT D SUBDIVISION IMPROVEMENT COST ESTIMATE 
 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 1

 This Development Agreement (the “Agreement”) is made and entered into this ___ day of 
________, 2018, by and between the city of Independence, a municipal corporation under the laws 
of Minnesota (the “City”), and Hamilton Bros., Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Developer”). 
 
 WITNESSETH: 

 WHEREAS, the Developer is the fee owner of land located at 385 County Road No. 110 
North, which land is legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, in April, 2018, the City Council approved the re-zoning of the Property to 
Rural Residential (RR) and the preliminary plat of Hamilton Century Farm (the “Subdivision”); and 
 
 WHEREAS, the above-described City approvals are collectively referred to hereinafter as 
the “City Approvals”; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the final approval of the plat of Hamilton Century Farm is contingent upon the 
Developer entering into a development agreement satisfactory to the City, which development 
agreement will be recorded against the Property. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, based on the mutual covenants and obligations contained herein, the 
parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Right to Proceed.  The Property is approximately 106 acres and the Subdivision 
consists of seventeen (17) single family residential lots and several outlots.  This Agreement is 
intended to regulate the development of the Property and the construction therein of certain public 
and private improvements.  The Developer may not construct public or private improvements or any 
buildings within the Subdivision until all the following conditions precedent have been satisfied: 
 

a) the final plat of Hamilton Century Farm has been filed with Hennepin 
County;  

b) this Agreement has been executed by the Developer and the City; 
c) the required Improvement Deposit and escrow amount (as hereinafter 

defined) have been received by the City from or on behalf of the 
Developer;  

d) final engineering and construction plans in digital form have been 
submitted by the Developer and approved by the city engineer; 

e) the Developer has paid the City for all legal, engineering and 
administrative expenses incurred by the City regarding the City Approvals 
and has given the City the additional construction inspection escrow 
required by this Agreement; 

f) the Developer has responded to all comments in the memoranda from 
Hakanson Anderson dated March 6 and June 15, 2018, and from MSA 
Professionals dated March 8 and June 15, 2018, and such responses have 
been approved in writing by the city administrator;  

g) the Developer has obtained written approval from the Minnehaha Creek 
Watershed District and provided evidence of such approval to the City; 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 2

h) the Developer has provided evidence of lawful establishment of a 
homeowners association; 

i) the Developer has executed the stormwater maintenance agreement in the 
form attached hereto as Exhibit C; 

j) the Developer has paid the park dedication fee required by section 13 of 
this Agreement;  

k) the Developer or the Developer’s engineer has initiated and attended a 
preconstruction meeting with the City engineer and staff; and 

 
Upon completion or satisfaction of the foregoing conditions precedent, the Developer shall notify 
the City and, upon confirmation of completion, the City shall provide written notice that the 
Developer may proceed. 
 

2. Plans; Improvements.  a) The Developer agrees to develop the Property in 
accordance with the City Approvals, and to construct all improvements in accordance with the 
approved engineering and construction plans (collectively, the “Plans”).  All terms and conditions of 
the City Approvals are hereby incorporated by reference into this Agreement.  The documents 
which constitute the Plans are those on file with and approved by the City and are listed on 
Exhibit B attached hereto.  The Plans may not be modified by the Developer without the prior 
written approval of the City. 
 
 b) In developing the Subdivision in accordance with the Plans, the Developer shall 
make or install at its sole expense the following public and private improvements (collectively, the 
“Subdivision Improvements”):   
 
  1. streets; 

2. stormwater facilities; and 
  3. street lighting and signage. 
 
 c) All work performed by or on behalf of the Developer related to construction of the 
Subdivision Improvements shall be restricted to the hours of 7:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m., Monday 
through Friday, and 8:00 a.m. through 4:00 p.m. on Saturday.  Construction on homes within the 
Subdivision shall be restricted to the hours of 7:00 a.m. through 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday 
and 8:00 a.m. through 4:00 p.m. on Saturday and Sunday.  
 

3. Erosion Control.  a)  All construction regarding the Subdivision Improvements 
shall be conducted in a manner designed to control erosion and in compliance with all City 
ordinances and other requirements, including the City’s permit with the Minnesota Pollution 
Control Agency regarding municipal separate storm sewer system program dated June 30, 2014.  
Before any portion of the Subdivision is rough graded, an erosion control plan shall be 
implemented by the Developer as approved by the City.  The City may impose reasonable, 
additional erosion control requirements after the City’s initial approval, if the City deems such 
necessary due to a change in conditions.  All areas disturbed by the excavation shall be reseeded 
promptly after the completion of the work in that area unless construction of streets or utilities, 
buildings or other improvements is anticipated immediately thereafter.  Except as otherwise 
provided in the erosion control plan, seed shall provide a temporary ground cover as rapidly as 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 3

possible.  All seeded areas shall be mulched, and disc anchored as necessary for seed retention.  
The parties recognize that time is of the essence in controlling erosion.   
 

b) If the Developer does not comply with the erosion control plan and schedule or 
supplementary instructions received from the City, the City may take such action as it deems 
reasonably appropriate to control erosion based on the urgency of the situation.  The City agrees 
to provide reasonable notice to the Developer in advance of any proposed action, including 
notice by telephone or email in the case of emergencies, but limited notice by the City when 
conditions so dictate will not affect the Developer’s obligations or the City’s rights hereunder.   

 
c) The Developer agrees to reimburse the City for all expenses it incurs in 

connection with any action it takes to control erosion.  No grading or construction of the 
Subdivision Improvements will be allowed and no building permits will be issued within the 
Subdivision unless the Developer is in full compliance with the erosion control requirements.  
The erosion control measures specified in the Plans or otherwise required within the Subdivision 
shall be binding on the Developer and its successors and assigns. 
 

4. Site Grading; Haul Routes.  a) In order to construct the Subdivision 
Improvements and otherwise prepare the Property for development, it will be necessary for the 
Developer to grade the Subdivision and adjacent property.  All grading must be done in 
compliance with this Agreement, the Plans and with all requirements of the Minnesota Pollution 
Control Agency regarding contaminated soils.  The City may withhold issuance of a building 
permit for the Subdivision until the approved certified grading plan is on file with the City and 
all erosion control measures are in place as determined by the City.  Within 30 days after 
completion of the grading, the Developer shall provide the City with an “as constructed” grading 
plan and a certification by a registered land surveyor or engineer. 
 

b) The Developer agrees that any fill material which must be brought to or removed 
from the Subdivision while grading the site or during construction of the Subdivision 
Improvements or any buildings located within the Subdivision will be transported using the haul 
routes established by the City.  For purposes of this provision, the City designates CSAH 110 as 
the haul route.  
 

5. Construction of Subdivision Improvements.  a)  All Subdivision Improvements 
shall be installed in accordance with the Plans, the City Approvals, the City’s subdivision 
regulations, the City’s engineering standards for utility construction (as hereinafter defined) and 
the requirements of the City engineer as indicated in the comments from MSA Professionals.  
The Developer shall submit plans and specifications for the Subdivision Improvements prepared 
by a registered professional engineer.  The Developer shall obtain any necessary permits from 
the Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, the Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, the 
Minnesota Department of Health, the Metropolitan Council, the Minnehaha Creek Watershed 
District and any other agency having jurisdiction over the Subdivision before proceeding with 
construction.  The City shall inspect all work regarding the Subdivision Improvements at the 
Developer’s expense.  The Developer, its contractors and subcontractors, shall follow all 
instructions received from the City’s inspectors.  Prior to beginning construction of any element 
of the Subdivision Improvements, the Developer or the Developer’s engineer shall schedule a 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 4

preconstruction meeting with all parties concerned, including the City staff and engineers, to 
review the program for the construction work.  Within 45 days after the completion of the 
Subdivision Improvements, the Developer shall supply the City with a complete set of 
reproducible “as constructed” plans and three complete sets of paper “as constructed” plans, each 
prepared in accordance with City standards and also electronic versions of said plans in 
AutoCADD and shapefile formats based on Hennepin County coordinates.  Iron monuments 
must be installed in accordance with state law.  The Developer’s surveyor shall submit a written 
notice to the City certifying that the monuments have been installed.  All Subdivision 
Improvements required by this Agreement shall be completed by no later than December 15, 
2018, except as specifically noted otherwise in this Agreement.   
 

b) The Developer agrees to require its contractor to provide to the City a warranty 
bond against defects in labor and materials for all elements of the Subdivision Improvements for 
a period of two years from the date of their acceptance by the City.  During such period, the 
Developer agrees to repair or replace any Subdivision Improvement, or any portion or element 
thereof, which shows signs of failure, normal wear and tear excepted.  A decision regarding 
whether a Subdivision Improvement shows signs of failure shall be made by the City in the 
exercise of its reasonable judgment.  If the Developer fails to repair or replace a defective 
Subdivision Improvement during the warranty period, the City may repair or replace the 
defective portion and may use the Improvement Deposit (as hereinafter defined) to reimburse 
itself for such costs.  The Developer agrees to reimburse the City fully for the cost of all 
Subdivision Improvement repair or replacement if the cost thereof exceeds the remaining amount 
of the Improvement Deposit.  Such reimbursement must be made within 45 days of the date upon 
which the City notifies the Developer of the cost due under this paragraph.  The Developer 
hereby agrees to permit the City to specially assess any unreimbursed costs against any lots in 
the Subdivision which have not been sold to home buyers if the Developer fails to make required 
payments to the City.  The Developer, on behalf of itself and its successors and assigns, 
acknowledges the benefit to the lots within the Subdivision of the repair or replacement of the 
Subdivision Improvements and hereby consents to such assessment and waives the right to a 
hearing or notice of hearing or any appeal thereon under Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 429. 
 

c) No building permit shall be issued for structures within the Subdivision until 
adequate street access is available to the lot in question.  If, for any reason, building permits are 
issued prior to the completion and acceptance of all Subdivision Improvements serving any lot, 
the final wear course of bituminous excepted, the Developer assumes all liability and costs 
resulting in delays in completion of the Subdivision Improvements and damage to the 
Subdivision Improvements caused by the City, the Developer, its contractors, subcontractors, 
materialmen, employees, agents, or third parties.  No temporary or permanent certificate of 
occupancy shall be issued for any structure within the Subdivision until all streets, except for the 
final wear course of bituminous, have been completed. 
 

6. Street.  a)  The Developer agrees to construct the street within the Subdivision in 
accordance with City specifications and the Plans.  The City’s street specifications are contained 
in the most recent edition of its engineering standards (the “Engineering Standards”), which is 
hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference.  If there is a conflict between the Plans and 
the Engineering Standards, the Engineering Standards shall prevail except when an alternative has 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 5

been explicitly approved in writing by the City.  Following completion of the street and inspection 
thereof by the City engineer, the City agrees to accept the street for maintenance if they are deemed 
by the City to have been constructed according to City specifications, including the Engineering 
Standards and the Plans.  Removal of snow and ice from the street within the Subdivision shall 
remain the responsibility of the Developer until the City accepts the street for maintenance. 
 

b) The streets shall be completed by no later than the date for completion of all 
Subdivision Improvements except that the final wear course of bituminous shall not be 
completed until after                new homes in the Subdivision have been completed.  
Notwithstanding the above, the City reserves the right to require installation of the wear course 
regardless of the number of homes completed whenever, at its sole discretion, it deems that to be 
in the public interest.  After notice by the City, the Developer will have 90 days to install the 
wear course, which period may be extended to 180 days in recognition of seasonal weather 
conditions and the availability of bituminous.  The Developer shall also repair or replace all 
broken or failing curbs and sidewalks at the time of installation of the final wear course of 
bituminous. 
 

c) In order to allow the Developer to grade and to construct the streets and the 
related improvements, the City hereby agrees to grant to the Developer a temporary easement for 
purposes of street and utility installation over, under and across the Subdivision rights-of-way.  
The easement will commence upon filing of the plat of Hamilton Century Farm with Hennepin 
County and shall terminate upon completion and acceptance by the City of the work described 
herein regarding road and utility construction within the Subdivision.   
 

7. Stormwater Improvements.  a)  The Developer agrees to complete all elements of 
the on-site stormwater facilities, including but not limited to ponds, infiltration basins and 
accompanying structures, in accordance with the Plans and in compliance with all City 
requirements regarding such improvements. The stormwater facilities serving the Subdivision will 
remain private and will be maintained by the Developer at its sole expense until taken over by the 
homeowners association established by Developer.  The City does not intend to accept the 
stormwater facilities as public and does not intend to maintain them.  In order to meet the 
requirements of the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District, the Developer agrees to enter into a 
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement with the City in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C.  The 
purpose of the Stormwater Maintenance Agreement is to ensure that the Developer and ultimately 
the homeowners association maintain the stormwater facilities within the Subdivision and to give 
the City the right but not the obligation to do so if the Developer fails in its obligations.  The 
Stormwater Maintenance Agreement will be recorded against the Property and will run with the 
land.  The Developer acknowledges that i) the on-site storm water improvements will not be 
accepted by the City; ii) the City does not plan to maintain or pay for maintenance, repair or 
replacement of the storm sewer improvements and that the Developer and ultimately the lot 
owners will have primary responsibility for such work; iii)  the City has the right but not the 
obligation to perform necessary work upon the failure or refusal by the Developer or the lot 
owners to do so; and iv) if the City performs any work on the storm water improvements, the 
City intends to recover its costs through one of the means available to it, including the right to 
specially assess the cost of such work against all of the lots within the Subdivision. 
 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 6

b) The parties anticipate that the Developer will make the homeowners association 
or lot owners responsible for the maintenance, repair or replacement of the storm water 
improvements as needed and that the lot owners documents recorded with Hennepin County 
shall so require.  The Developer agrees to inform purchasers of lots within the Subdivision that i) 
the City does not plan to maintain or pay for maintenance, repair or replacement of the storm 
water improvements and that the lot owners will have primarily responsibility for such work; ii)  
the City has the right but not the obligation to perform necessary work upon the failure or refusal 
by the lot owners to do so; and iii) if the City performs any work on the storm water 
improvements, the City intends to recover the cost of such work against the lots within the 
Subdivision through one of the means available to it, including the right to specially assess the 
cost of the work against all the lots within the Subdivision. 
 

c) The Developer acknowledges that the City has established a storm sewer 
improvement tax district which includes all of the Property.  The district was established pursuant to 
Minnesota Statutes, sections 444.16 to 444.21 and authorizes the City to acquire, construct, 
reconstruct, extend, maintain, and otherwise improve storm sewer systems and related 
improvements within the Property if such work becomes necessary in the opinion of the City.  In 
recognition of this possibility, the Developer agrees to provide prospective lot purchasers with a 
disclosure statement regarding the existence of the storm sewer improvement tax district and the 
fact that a tax could be imposed on the lots within the Subdivision if the City is required to repair or 
maintain the storm sewer systems and related improvements.  The wording of the disclosure 
statement must be approved by the City for use in connection with the sale of lots in the Subdivision 
prior to its distribution or use by the Developer or to the marketing of any of the lots.   
 

8. Street Lighting and Signs.  The Developer agrees to install street lighting and street 
signs within the Subdivision.  Prior to the issuance of any building permits, the Developer shall 
submit lighting details to the City for review and approval by city staff.  All lighting shall meet 
City standards.  Street lighting shall include lighting fixtures approved by the City and shall be 
equipped with luminaries which allow no light more than five percent above the horizontal 
plane.  Street signs shall be of a design approved by the City and shall be dedicated by the 
Developer to the City after installation and acceptance by the City.  The Developer shall pay for 
the cost of the street lighting and street signs.  If the Developer installs street lighting fixtures 
consistent with the City’s standard fixtures, the City will maintain the fixtures thereafter.  Street 
signs requiring repair or replacement will be replaced by the City with the City’s standard form 
of street sign.   
 

9. Improvement Deposit.  a)  In order to ensure completion of the Subdivision 
Improvements required under this Agreement, repair of any roads damaged by the Developer or 
its contractors or subcontractors and satisfaction of all fees due to the City, the Developer agrees 
to deliver to the City prior to beginning any construction or work within the Subdivision, 
________________________________________ and 00/100 Dollars ($____________) (the 
“Improvement Deposit”), which represents 150 percent of the estimated cost of the Subdivision 
Improvements as specified in the Plans.  The Improvement Deposit amount represents the 
maximum risk exposure for the City, based on the anticipated sequence of construction and the 
estimate of cost of each element of the Subdivision Improvements, rather than the aggregate cost 
of all required Subdivision Improvements.  The City shall deposit the Improvement Deposit in a 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 7

City account with a bank of its choosing.  The City shall be the sole accountholder and have sole 
rights to access and control the funds within the account.  The estimated cost of the work covered 
by the Improvement Deposit is itemized on Exhibit D attached hereto.  Upon 10 days’ written 
notice to Developer, the City may draw upon the Improvement Deposit, in whole or part, in 
order to complete construction of any or all of the Subdivision Improvements and other specified 
work within the Subdivision, to repair any damaged roads and to pay any fees or costs due to the 
City by the Developer.   
 

b) The City agrees to return a portion of the Improvement Deposit, in an amount to 
be determined solely by the City, upon substantial completion of any significant portion of the 
covered Subdivision Improvements, delivery of the required warranty bond to the City, and 
satisfaction of all of the Developer’s financial obligations to the City.  The Improvement Deposit 
may also be used as security for additional elements of the Subdivision Improvements.  Prior to 
releasing any portion of the Improvement Deposit, the City shall first be satisfied regarding the 
quality and completeness of the work and that the Developer has taken such steps as may be 
necessary to ensure that no liens will attach to the land within the Subdivision.  The remaining 
balance of the Improvement Deposit shall be released in full and returned to the Developer 
following installation of the final wear course of bituminous on the streets and after satisfaction 
of all the Developer’s financial obligations to the City under this Agreement.  

 
c) It is the intention of the parties that the City at all times have available to it an 

Improvement Deposit in an amount adequate to ensure completion of all elements of the 
Subdivision Improvements and other obligations of the Developer under this Agreement, 
including fees or costs due to the City by the Developer.  To that end and notwithstanding 
anything herein to the contrary, all requests by the Developer for a reduction or release of the 
Improvement Deposit shall be evaluated by the City in light of that principle. 
 

10. Park Dedication Requirements.  The Developer agrees to pay a cash-in-lieu park 
dedication fee of Fifty Five Thousand One Hundred Twenty-five and 00/100 Dollars ($55,125.00) 
for the Subdivision. 

 
11. Responsibility for Costs; Deposit for Construction Inspection.  a) The Developer 

agrees to pay to the City an administrative fee in the amount necessary to reimburse the City for 
its reasonable costs and expenses in reviewing the final plat of Hamilton Century Farm and the 
drafting and negotiation of this Agreement.  The Developer agrees to reimburse the City in full for 
such reasonable costs within 45 days after notice in writing by the City.  The Developer agrees to 
reimburse the City for the reasonable cost incurred in the enforcement of any provision of this 
Agreement, including reasonable engineering and attorneys’ fees.   
 

b) The Developer shall also pay a fee for City construction observation and 
administration relating to construction of the Subdivision Improvements.  Construction 
observation shall include inspection of all the Subdivision Improvements. In order to reimburse 
the City for the administrative fee and the reasonable cost of inspection of the Subdivision 
Improvements, the Developer shall deposit an additional $__________ with the City, which shall 
receive and hold such funds solely under the terms of this Agreement.  The City shall reimburse 
itself for expenses from the deposit and will provide the Developer with a copy of any invoice 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 8

from the City engineer or evidence of other cost or expense prior to deducting such funds from 
the deposit.  If any funds held exceed the amount necessary to reimburse the City for its costs 
under this paragraph, such funds shall be returned to Developer without interest.  If it appears 
that the actual costs incurred will exceed the estimate, Developer and City shall review the costs 
required to complete the project and the Developer shall deposit additional sums with the City. 
 

12. Developer’s Default.  In the event of default by the Developer as to construction or 
repair of any of the Subdivision Improvements or any other work or undertaking required by this 
Agreement, the City may, at its option, perform the work and the Developer shall promptly 
reimburse the City for any expense incurred by the City.  This Agreement is a license for the 
City to act, and it shall not be necessary for the City to seek an order from any court for 
permission to enter the Subdivision for such purposes.  If the City does any such work, the City 
may, in addition to its other remedies, levy special assessments against the land within the 
Subdivision to recover the costs thereof.  For this purpose, the Developer, for itself and its 
successors and assigns, expressly waives any and all procedural and substantive objections to the 
special assessments, including but not limited to, hearing requirements and any claim that the 
assessments exceed the benefit to the land so assessed.  The Developer, for itself and its 
successors and assigns, also waives any appeal rights otherwise available pursuant to Minnesota 
Statutes, section 429.081. 
 

13. Insurance.  The Developer agrees to take out and maintain or cause to be taken 
out and maintained until six months after the City has accepted the Subdivision Improvements, 
public liability and property damage insurance covering personal injury, including death, and 
claims for property damage which may arise out of Developer’s work or the work of its 
contractors or subcontractors.  Liability limits shall not be less than $500,000 when the claim is 
one for death by wrongful act or omission or for any other claim and $1,500,000 for any number 
of claims arising out of a single occurrence.  The City shall be named as an additional insured on 
the policy.  The certificate of insurance shall provide that the City must be given the same 
advance written notice of the cancellation of the insurance as is afforded to the Developer. 
 

14. Floodplain Regulations.  No structures, including fences and accessory structures, 
may be constructed within the Subdivision below the regulatory flood protection elevation.  The 
Developer must comply with the requirements of the City with regard to flood protection.   
 

15. No Building Permits Approved; Certificates of Occupancy.  a)  The City 
Approvals do not include approval of a building permit for any structures within the Subdivision.  
The Developer must submit and the City must approve building plans prior to an application for 
a building permit for a structure on any lot within the Subdivision.  The Developer or the parties 
applying for the building permits shall be responsible for payment of the customary fees 
associated with the building permits and other deferred fees as specified in this Agreement. 
 

b) No certificate of occupancy shall be issued for any home constructed in the 
Subdivision unless prior thereto the lot has been graded, the driveway has been installed, the 
sump pump is discharging in an approved location, the septic system and water well are in 
proper working order and an as built survey of the lot has been submitted and approved by the 
City.  In cases in which seasonal weather conditions make compliance with these conditions 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 9

impossible, the City may accept an escrow of sufficient amount to ensure completion of the work 
during the following construction season. 
 

16. Clean up and Dust Control.  The Developer shall daily clean dirt and debris from 
streets adjoining the Subdivision resulting from construction work by the Developer, its 
contractors, agents or assigns.  Prior to any construction within the Subdivision, the Developer 
shall identify to the City in writing a responsible party for erosion control, street cleaning, and 
street sweeping.  The Developer shall provide dust control to the satisfaction of the City’s 
engineer throughout construction within the Subdivision. 
 

17. Compliance with Laws.  The Developer agrees to comply with all laws, ordinances, 
regulations and directives of the state of Minnesota and the City applicable to the Subdivision.  This 
Agreement shall be construed according to the laws of Minnesota.  Breach of the terms of this 
Agreement by the Developer shall be grounds for denial of building permits for the Subdivision. 
 

18. Agreement Runs With the Land.  This Agreement shall run with the Property and 
shall be recorded against the title thereto and shall bind and inure to the benefit of the City and 
the Developer and their successors and assigns.  The Developer’s successor in title may be 
responsible for obligations under this Agreement as required by the City.  The Developer 
warrants that there are no unrecorded encumbrances or interests relating to the Property.  The 
Developer agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless for any breach of the foregoing 
covenants.   
 

19. Indemnification.  The Developer hereby agrees to indemnify and hold the City and 
its officers, employees, and agents harmless from claims made by it and third parties for 
damages sustained or costs incurred resulting from approval of the final plat of Hamilton 
Century Farm and the other City Approvals.  The Developer hereby agrees to indemnify and 
hold the City and its officers, employees, and agents harmless for all costs, damages, or expenses 
which the City may pay or incur in consequence of such claims, including attorneys’ fees, except 
matters involving acts of gross negligence by the City.   
 

20. Assignment.  The Developer may not assign this Agreement or its rights or 
obligations hereunder without the prior written permission of the City, which consent shall not 
be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or denied.   
 

21. Notices.  Any notice or correspondence to be given under this Agreement shall be 
deemed to be given if delivered personally or sent by United States certified or registered mail, 
postage prepaid, return receipt requested: 
 

a)  as to Developer:   Hamilton Brothers, Inc. 
      1050 County Road 83 
      Independence, MN 55359 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 10

 b) as to City:   City of Independence 
      1920 County Road 90 
      Independence, MN  55359-9448 

Attn:  City Administrator 
 

with a copy to:   Robert Vose 
      Kennedy & Graven 
      470 U.S. Bank Plaza 
      200 South Sixth Street 
      Minneapolis, MN  55402 
 
or at such other address as any party may from time to time notify the others in writing in 
accordance with this paragraph.  The Developer shall notify the City if there is any change in its 
name or address. 
 

22. Severability.  In the event that any provision of this Agreement shall be held invalid, 
illegal or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall pertain only to 
such section and shall not invalidate or render unenforceable any other provision of this Agreement. 
 

23. Non-waiver.  Each right, power or remedy conferred upon the City by this 
Agreement is cumulative and in addition to every other right, power or remedy, express or 
implied, now or hereafter arising, or available to the City at law or in equity, or under any other 
agreement.  Each and every right, power and remedy herein set forth or otherwise so existing 
may be exercised from time to time as often and in such order as may be deemed expedient by 
the City and shall not be a waiver of the right to exercise at any time thereafter any other right, 
power or remedy.  If either party waives in writing any default or nonperformance by the other 
party, such waiver shall be deemed to apply only to such event and shall not waive any other prior 
or subsequent default. 
 

24. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed simultaneously in any number of 
counterparts, each of which shall be an original and shall constitute one and the same Agreement. 
 
 
 
 
 

[The remainder of this page intentionally blank] 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 11

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be executed on 

the day and year first above written. 
 
       CITY OF INDEPENDENCE  
 
 
      By: __________________________________ 
       Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
 
      By: __________________________________ 
       Mark Kaltsas 
       City Administrator 
 
 
STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of ________, 2018, by 
Marvin Johnson and Mark Kaltsas, the Mayor and City Administrator, respectively, of the city of 
Independence, a Minnesota municipal corporation, on behalf of the municipal corporation. 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Notary Public 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 12

DEVELOPER 
HAMILTON BROS., INC. 

 
 
 

By: __________________________________ 
        
      Its: President 
 
STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of __________, 2018, 
by _______________________________________, the _________________, on behalf of 
Hamilton Bros., Inc., a Minnesota corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 
 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Notary Public  



 

A-1 
528957vRJV ND115-7 

EXHIBIT A TO 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Legal Description of the Property 

 
The land subject to this Development Agreement is located in Hennepin County, Minnesota and is 
legally described as follows: 
 

[Insert Legal Description] 
 
 

The North Half of the Southeast Quarter and the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter in 
Section 35, Township 118, Range 24, Hennepin County, Minnesota, except that part of said 
Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter lying South of Painter Creek. 

 
 



 

B-1 
528957vRJV ND115-7 

EXHIBIT B TO 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
List of Plan Documents 

 
 

The following documents prepared by ______________ collectively constitute the Plans: 
 

Sheet Title Revision Date 
 Title Sheet 
 Final Street Plan 
 Final Storm Sewer Plan 
 Final Grading Plan 
 Final Erosion Control Plan
 Draintile Map 

 
 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 C-1

EXHIBIT C TO 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
FORM OF 

STORMWATER MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
 

THIS AGREEMENT is made and entered into as of the ____ day of ___________, 
2018, by and between the city of Independence, a Minnesota municipal corporation (the “City”), 
and Hamilton Bros., Inc., a Minnesota corporation (the “Developer”). 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer owns certain real property located in Hennepin County, 
Minnesota, legally described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer has granted to the City conservation, drainage and utility 
easements over portions of the Property through a conservation easement and dedication on the 
plat of Hamilton Century Farm; and 
 
 WHEREAS, those portions of the Property subject to the conservation, drainage and 
utility easements are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Easement Areas”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Developer intends to construct within the Easement Areas certain 
stormwater facilities (the “Stormwater Improvements”) for the benefit of the Property; and  

 
WHEREAS, by a separate development agreement (the “Development Agreement”), the 

City and the Developer have entered into an agreement for the construction and maintenance of 
the Stormwater Improvements; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Minnehaha Creek Watershed District requires permanent provisions for 
handling of storm runoff, including terms and conditions for operation and maintenance of all 
Stormwater Improvements, and requires such provisions to be set forth in an agreement to be 
recorded against the Property; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City and the Developer intend to comply with certain conditions, 
including entering into a maintenance agreement regarding the Stormwater Improvements; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants of the parties set forth 
herein and other valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 
 

1. Maintenance of the Stormwater Improvements.  The Developer and its successors 
or assigns as fee owners of the Property shall be responsible for maintaining the Stormwater 
Improvements and for observing all drainage laws governing the operation and maintenance of 
the Stormwater Improvements.  The Developer shall provide the City with a schedule acceptable 
to the City for the periodic inspection of the Stormwater Improvements by the Developer.  The 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 C-2

Developer shall make all such scheduled inspections, keep record of all inspections and 
maintenance activities, and submit such records annually to the City.  The cost of all inspections 
and maintenance, including skimming and cleaning of the Stormwater Improvements, shall be 
the obligation of the Developer and its successors or assigns as the fee owner of the Property.   
 

2. City’s Maintenance Rights.  The City may maintain the Stormwater 
Improvements, as provided in this paragraph, if the City reasonably believes that the Developer 
or its successors or assigns has failed to maintain the Stormwater Improvements in accordance 
with applicable drainage laws and other requirements and such failure continues for 30 days after 
the City gives the Developer written notice of such failure or, if such tasks cannot be completed 
within 30 days, after such time period as may be reasonably required to complete the required 
tasks provided that Developer is making a good faith effort to complete said task.  The City's 
notice shall specifically state which maintenance tasks are to be performed. If Developer does 
not complete the maintenance tasks within the required time period after such notice is given by 
the City, the City shall have the right to enter upon the Easement Area to perform such 
maintenance tasks.  In such case, the City shall send an invoice of its reasonable maintenance 
costs to the Developer or its successors or assigns, which shall include all reasonable staff time, 
engineering and legal and other reasonable costs and expenses incurred by the City.  If the 
Developer or its assigns fails to reimburse the City for its costs and expenses in maintaining the 
Stormwater Improvements within 30 days of receipt of an invoice for such costs, the City shall 
have the right to assess the full cost thereof against the Property.  The Developer, on behalf of 
itself and its successor and assigns, acknowledges that the maintenance work performed by the 
City regarding the Stormwater Improvements benefits the Property in an amount which exceeds 
the assessment and hereby waives any right to hearing or notice and the right to appeal the 
assessments otherwise provided by Minnesota Statutes, Chapter 429.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, in the event of an emergency, as determined by the city engineer, the 30-day notice 
requirement to the Developer for failure to perform maintenance tasks shall be and hereby is 
waived in its entirety by the Developer, and the Developer shall reimburse the City and be 
subject to assessment for any expense so incurred by the City in the same manner as if written 
notice as described above has been given. 
 

3. Hold Harmless.  The Developer hereby agrees to defend, indemnify and hold 
harmless the City and its agents and employees against any and all claims, demands, losses, 
damages, and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) arising out of or resulting from the 
Developer's, or the Developer's agents’ or employees’ negligent or intentional acts, or any 
violation of any safety law, regulation or code in the performance of this Agreement, without 
regard to any inspection or review made or not made by the City, its agents or employees or 
failure by the City, its agents or employees to take any other prudent precautions.  In the event 
the City, upon the failure of the Developer to comply with any conditions of this Agreement, 
performs said conditions pursuant to its authority in this Agreement, the Developer shall 
indemnify and hold harmless the City, its employees, agents and representatives for its own 
negligent acts in the performance of the Developer's required work under this Agreement, but 
this indemnification shall not extend to intentional or grossly negligent acts of the City, its 
employees, agents and representatives. 
 

4.  Costs of Enforcement.  The Developer agrees to reimburse the City for all costs 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 C-3

prudently incurred by the City in the enforcement of this Agreement, or any portion thereof, 
including court costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

 
5. Rights Not Exclusive.  No right of the City under this Agreement shall be deemed 

to be exclusive and the City shall retain all rights and powers it may have under Minnesota 
Statutes, sections 444.16 to 444.21 to acquire, construct, reconstruct, extend, maintain and 
otherwise improve the Stormwater Improvements. 
 

6.  Notice.  All notices required under this Agreement shall either be personally 
delivered or be sent by United States certified or registered mail, postage prepaid, and addressed 
as follows: 

 
a)  as to Developer:  Hamilton Bros., Inc. 
     ________________________________ 

________________________________ 
________________________________ 

 
 b) as to City:   City of Independence 
      1920 County Road 90 
      Independence, MN  55359-9448 

Attn:  City Administrator 
 
  with a copy to:   Robert Vose 

Kennedy & Graven, Chartered 
      470 U.S. Bank Plaza 
      200 South Sixth Street 
      Minneapolis, MN  55402 
 
or at such other address as any party may from time to time notify the others in writing in 
accordance with this paragraph. 
 

7.  Successors.  All duties and obligations of Developer under this Agreement shall 
also be duties and obligations of Developer's successors and assigns.  The terms and conditions 
of this Agreement shall run with the Property. 
 

8.  Effective Date.  This Agreement shall be binding and effective as of the date first 
written above. 

 
9. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be construed under the laws of Minnesota. 
 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 C-4

 
 

DEVELOPER 
HAMILTON BROS., INC. 
 
 

By: __________________________________ 
        
      Its: President 
 
 
STATE OF MINNESOTA ) 
    ) ss. 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN ) 
 
 The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of __________, 2018, 
by _______________________________________, the _________________, on behalf of 
Hamilton Bros., Inc., a Minnesota corporation, on behalf of the corporation. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       Notary Public  



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 C-5

 
CITY OF INDEPENDENCE 
 
 

By:         
Marvin Johnson, Mayor 
 
 

By:         
Mark Kaltsas 
City Administrator 

 
 
STATE OF MINNESOTA  ) 
    )  ss. 
COUNTY OF HENNEPIN ) 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of __________, 
2018, by Marvin Johnson and Mark Kaltsas, the Mayor and the City Administrator, respectively, 
of the city of Independence, a Minnesota municipal corporation, on behalf of the municipal 
corporation. 
 
 
 
             
       Notary Public 
 
 
 
This instrument drafted by: 
 
Kennedy & Graven, Chartered 
470 U.S. Bank Plaza 
200 South Sixth Street 
Minneapolis, MN  55402 
(612) 337-9300 
 



 

C-A-1 
528957vRJV ND115-7 

 
EXHIBIT A TO 

STORMWATER MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
 
The land subject to this Stormwater Maintenance Agreement is located in Hennepin County, 
Minnesota and is legally described as follows: 
 

[Insert Legal Description] 
 



 

528957vRJV ND115-7 D-1

EXHIBIT D TO  
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT 

 
Subdivision Improvement Cost Estimate  

 
 

[To be inserted] 
 
 
 

 






































